The influence of the Y chromosome on autosomal DNA methylation

Enkhjin Batdorj

Department of Human Genetics

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences

McGill University, Montreal

October 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of Master of Science (M.Sc.)

© Enkhjin Batdorj, 2022

Table of Contents

Abstract in English
Résumé 6
Acknowledgements
Contribution of Authors
List of Figures and Tables
List of Abbreviations
Chapter 1. Introduction
1.1. Sexual dimorphism
1.2. Sex determination (the role of the Y chromosome) and gonadal hormones
1.2.1. Sex determination and the role of the Y chromosome
1.2.2. Gonadal hormones
1.3. The sex-chromosome complement
1.3.1. X-inactivation
1.3.2. The Y chromosome
1.3.2.1. Genetic variations in the Y chromosome
1.4. DNA methylation
1.4.1. Role of DNA methylation in transposable elements
1.4.2. DNA methyltransferases
1.4.3. Interaction between DNA methylation and histone modifications
1.4.4. DNA demethylation
1.5. Sexual dimorphism in gene expression and DNA methylation

1.6. Mouse models that allow to separate the effects of the sex-chromosome complement and
gonadal sex
1.7. Outstanding question to be solved, hypothesis, and objectives
Chapter 2. Methodology
2.1. Mouse strains and crosses
2.2. Organ collection
2.3. DNA extraction, bisulfite conversion, and pyrosequencing analysis
2.4. Selection of target yDMRs and primer design for pyrosequencing methylation assays 40
2.5. Statistical analysis
Chapter 3. Research findings
3.1. Selection of the target autosomal yDMRs
3.2. Validation of yDMRs
3.3. Testing organ-specificity of yDMRs 50
3.4. Analysis of genetic variants of the Y chromosome
3.5. <i>Kdm5d</i> knock-out does not influence yDMR methylation levels
Chapter 4. Discussion
4.1. The influence of the Y-chromosome on DNA methylation
4.2. yDMRs are not tissue-specific
4.3. Different origins of the Y chromosome
4.4. Impact of Y-linked gene candidates on autosomal DNA methylation
Chapter 5. Final conclusions and future directions
Reference list
Appendix: Supplementary materials

Abstract

Sexual dimorphism between males and females of a given species ranges from gross phenotypes to gene expression and DNA methylation. Both gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement contribute to sexual dimorphism in DNA methylation in somatic cells. However, the molecular mechanisms responsible for the establishment of sexually dimorphic DNA methylation levels in somatic cells are still poorly understood. Hence, this study focused on one of the factors that potentially contribute to sex bias in DNA methylation, the influence of the Y chromosome, using mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement.

Whole genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS) methylation data from livers and brains of adult mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement were analyzed, and a list of 22 Y-chromosome dependent sex-associated differentially methylated regions (yDMRs) was generated. Approximately 90% of yDMRs overlapped with repetitive elements. Four yDMRs were validated using pyrosequencing methylation assays and used as reporter yDMRs for analyzing tissue-specificity of yDMRs and effects of genetic background on Y-dependent methylation.

We tested tissue-specificity of the reporter yDMRs by analyzing DNA methylation in spleen, heart, lung, brain, tail, and testes from the same mice and we demonstrated that yDMRs were present in all tested non-reproductive organs. This suggested that yDMRs either arise early in development or the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation is expressed in all tested organs. Next, we examined the impact of genetic background including the subspecific origin of the Y chromosome by analyzing DNA methylation in mice from different laboratory strains carrying either the *Mus musculus musculus or Mus musculus domesticus* Y

chromosomes. We demonstrated that both genetic background and the origin of the Y chromosome had an effect on DNA methylation. Lastly, we hypothesized that Y-dependent DNA methylation was associated with a non-synonymous coding polymorphism in lysine demethylase 5D (*Kdm5d*) gene. To test this hypothesis, we analyzed methylation of reporter yDMRs in *Kdm5d* knock-out mice and found no effect. Therefore, we established that *Kdm5d* was unlikely to be affecting DNA methylation at the yDMRs.

<u>Résumé</u>

Le dimorphisme sexuel entre les mâles et les femelles d'une espèce donnée varie des phénotypes bruts à l'expression des gènes et à la méthylation de l'ADN. Le sexe gonadique et le complément du chromosome sexuel contribuent au dimorphisme sexuel à la méthylation de l'ADN dans les cellules somatiques. Cependant, les mécanismes moléculaires responsables de l'établissement de niveaux de méthylation de l'ADN sexuellement dimorphes dans les cellules somatiques sont encore mal compris. Par conséquent, cette étude s'est concentrée sur l'un des facteurs qui contribuent potentiellement au biais sexuel dans la méthylation de l'ADN, l'influence du chromosome Y, en utilisant des souris avec différentes combinaisons de sexe gonadique et de complément de chromosome sexuel.

Les données de méthylation du séquençage du bisulfite du génome entier provenant du foie et du cerveau de souris adultes avec différentes combinaisons de sexe gonadique et de complément de chromosome sexuel ont été analysées, et une liste de 22 régions méthylées différentiellement associées au sexe dépendantes du chromosome Y (yDMRs) a été générée. Environ 90 % des yDMRs se chevauchaient avec des éléments répétitifs. Quatre yDMRs ont été validés à l'aide d'essais de méthylation par pyroséquençage et utilisés comme rapporteurs yDMRs pour analyser la spécificité tissulaire des yDMRs et les effets du bagage génétique sur la méthylation dépendante de Y.

Nous avons testé la spécificité tissulaire des rapporteurs yDMRs en analysant la méthylation de l'ADN dans la rate, le cœur, les poumons, le cerveau, la queue et les testicules des mêmes souris et nous avons démontré que les yDMRs étaient présents dans tous les organes non reproducteurs testés. Cela suggère que les yDMRs apparaissent tôt dans le développement

embryonnaire ou que le(s) gène(s) présent(s) à chromosome Y responsables de l'influence de la méthylation autosomique de l'ADN sont exprimés dans tous les organes testés. Ensuite, nous avons examiné l'impact du bagage génétique, y compris l'origine sous-spécifique du chromosome Y, en analysant la méthylation de l'ADN chez des souris de différentes souches de laboratoire portant le chromosome Y *Mus musculus musculus* ou le chromosome Y *Mus musculus domesticus*. Nous avons démontré que le bagage génétique et l'origine du chromosome Y avaient un effet sur la méthylation de l'ADN. Enfin, nous avons émis l'hypothèse que la méthylation de l'ADN dépendante de chromosome Y était associée à un polymorphisme codant non-synonyme dans le gène lysine K déméthylase (*Kdm5d*). Pour tester cette hypothèse, nous avons analysé la méthylation des rapporteurs yDMRs chez des souris *Kdm5d* knock-out et n'avons trouvé aucun effet. Par conséquent, nous avons établi qu'il était peu probable que *Kdm5d* affecte la méthylation de l'ADN des yDMRs.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Anna Naumova, from the bottom of my heart for her kindness, help, support, understanding, and motivations that she has given me throughout my master's degree. I learned a lot from her and I consider myself very lucky to become one of her many students and join her lab in Fall 2020. There are no words that can express how much I am grateful to her. I will never forget your immense help and generosity.

I would like to thank my Supervisory committee members, Dr. Teruko Taketo and Dr. Loydie Majewska, for their advice, help, support, and feedback towards my project. I will always be grateful to them.

I also would like to thank Najla AlOgayil and Klara Bauermeister for training me when I first started my master's degree and helped me when I needed help in the lab.

Thank you, Najla for the videocalls and answering questions I had even after you graduated and left the lab. I cannot thank you enough.

I also wish to thank our collaborators, Dr. Guillaume Bourque and his student, Qinwei Kim-Wee Zhuang, for analyzing whole genome bisulfite sequencing results and Dr. Teruko Taketo, Dr. Loydie Majewska, Dr. Tohru Kimura, Dr. Danielle Malo, Dr. David Labbe, and Dr. Fernando Pardo Manuel de Villena for providing the mice and mouse tissues that were used in my project.

I also would like to extend my thanks to all the graduate students at MUHC for their help and the kind conversations we had throughout my master's degree. I would like to thank my mom and Chantal Cozian for helping me translate the abstract into French.

I would not be here without the help, understanding, and support of my family. Thank you, dad, mom, Zorigoo, Munkhjin, and Arvin, for encouraging me and loving me to the fullest. I will always be grateful to you all and love you all.

I would like to thank my grandparents million times for raising with full of love.

Contribution of Authors

Organs from XX.FT, XY.MT, sex-reversed XY.FT, XX^{*Paf*}.F and XO.F mice were collected by Najla AlOgayil, a student in Dr. Anna Naumova's lab. Testes of XY.MT mice were collected by Dr. Naumova and Enkhjin Batdorj (the candidate). Najla AlOgayil also extracted genomic DNA from the livers for whole genome bisulfite sequencing methylation analysis (WGBS). WGBS analysis was performed by Qinwei Kim-Wee Zhuang, a student in Dr. Guillaume Bourque's lab (Zhuang et al, 2020).

Validated assays, which are *Caprin1*, *Chr2_CG1*, *Ch2qH1_2*, and *Ch6qA*, were designed by Najla AlOgayil. The *Chr9qA5* and *Chr15qE2* assays were designed by Enkhjin Batdorj. The *Chr16qB* assay was designed by Dr. Anna Naumova.

Fig S2 was made using Najla AlOgayil's data.

Klara Bauermeister, a student in Dr. Anna Naumova's lab, designed some of the primers used to genotype the mouse Y chromosome.

The abstract was translated into French with the help of Tserennadmid Bayasgalan and Chantal Cozian.

All other experiments described in the thesis were performed by the candidate.

List of Figures and Tables

Figures:

Chapter 1:

Fig 1.1. Map of the mouse Y chromosome with positions of Y-linked genes involved in gene
regulation and/or histone modifications (not in scale)

Chapter 2

Fig 2.1. Crosses used in the study 4	Fig 2.1.	Crosses used in the study.	
--------------------------------------	----------	----------------------------	--

Chapter 3:

Fig 3.1. The distribution of yDMRs in mouse liver and brain	50
Fig 3.2. Validation of yDMRs in mouse liver	52
Fig 3.3. yDMRs are present in most organs	. 55
Fig 3.4. Origin of the Y chromosome influences methylation of autosomal yDMRs	. 58
Fig 3.5. <i>Kdm5d</i> does not influence yDMR methylation	. 62

Tables:

Chapter 2:

Table 2.1. List of yDMRs and their pyrosequencing methylation assay primers
Chapter 3:
Table 3.1. The result of WGBS of DNA methylation in mouse liver
Table 3.2. List of non-synonymous coding variants of Y-linked genes 59

Appendix:

Figures:

Fig	S1.	Selected	"reporter"	Y-chromosome	dependent	sDMRs	and	their	location	in	the
geno	ome						•••••		1	100-	101
Fig S	52. yl	DMRs are	present in c	only B6.Y ^{TIR} mice				•••••		••••	102
Fig S	53. O	rigin of th	e Y chromo	some influences i	nethylation	of autoso	mal y	DMR	s	•••••	103

Tables:

Table S1. Genomic locations of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in liver	98
Table S2. Genomic locations of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in brain	99

List of Abbreviations

5caC: 5-carboxylcytosine 5fC: 5-formylcytosine 5hmC: 5-hydroxymethylcytosine 5mC: 5-methylcytosine ANOVA: analysis of variance AR: androgen receptor AREs: androgen response elements B6.Y^{TIR}: Tirano mice BRG1: brahma-releated gene-1 protein Caprin1: cell cycle associated protein 1 gene CG: CpG Chr: chromosome CpG: 5'- cytosine – phosphate – guanine - 3' CXXC: Cysteine-X-X-Cysteine DHT: dihydrotestosterone DMR: differentially methylated region DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid DNMT: DNA methyltransferase Dnmt1: DNA methyltransferase 1 gene DNMT1: DNA methyltransferase 1 protein *Dnmt3a*: DNA methyltransferase 3a gene DNMT3A: DNA methyltransferase 3A protein *Dnmt3b*: DNA methyltransferase 3b gene DNMT3B: DNA methyltransferase 3B protein Dnmt3c: DNA methyltransferase 3c gene DNMT3C: DNA methyltransferase 3C protein DNMT3L: DNA methyltransferase 3L protein E: embryonic day E1: estrone E₂: 17β-estradiol E₃: estriol ERs: estrogen receptors EREs: estrogen response elements EZH2: enhancer of zeste homolog 2 protein FB: F₁ (C57BL/6J female x FVB/NJ male) FGF9: fibroblast growth factor 9 protein *Fnbp1*: forming binding protein 1 gene H3K4: lysine 4 of histone H3 H3K4me2/3: di- and tri-methylated lysine 4 of histone H3 H3K27me3: tri-methylated lysine 27 of histone H3 HMG: high mobility group ICR: Institure of Cancer Research mouse strain IDAX: inhibition of the dvl and axin complex protein JmjC: Jumonji C-terminal domain JmjN: Jumonji N-terminal domain

KDM5C: lysine demethylase 5C protein *Kdm5d*: lysine demethylase 5D gene KDM5D: lysine demethylase 5D protein KO: knock out LINE: long interspersed element LINE-1: long interspersed nuclear element-1 LTR: long terminal repeat Mb: megabase MSY: male-specific region of the Y chromosome NS: nonsynonymous P450arom: cytochrome P450 aromatase Paf: patchy fur PAR: pseudoautosomal region PRC2: polycomb repressive complex 2 Rbmy: RNA-binding motif protein, Y chromosome RFLP: restriction fragment length polymorphism RNA-FISH: ribonucleic acid-fluorescence in situ hybridization sDMR: sex-associated differentially methylated region SINE: short interspersed element SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism SNV: single nucleotide variant Sox9: sry-box transcription factor gene SOX9: sry-box transcription factor protein

Sry: sex-determining region, Y gene

SRY: sex-determining region, Y protein

SETDB1: SET domain bifurcated histone lysine methyltransferase 1 protein

SWI/SNF: switch/sucrose nonfermenting

TE: transposable element

TET: ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase protein

TET1: ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 1 protein

TET2: ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 2 protein

TET3: ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 3 protein

TESCO: testis-specific enhancer of Sox9 core

Ubaly: ubiquitin activating enzyme E1, Y chromosome gene

UCSC: University of California, Santa Cruz

UHRF1: ubiquitin-like protein containing PHD and RING finger domains 1

Usp9y: ubiquitin specific peptidase 9, Y chromosome

Uty: ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat containing, Y-linked gene

WGBS: whole genome bisulfite sequencing

Wnt4: wingless-type MMTV integration site family member 4 gene

WT: wild type

XIC: X-inactivation centre

XistI: X-inactive specific transcript gene

XO.F: XO female mice from the cross between C57BL/6J female and X^{Paf}Y male mice

XX.FT: XX female mice from the cross between C57BL/6J female and B6.Y^{TIR} male mice

XX^{Paf}.F: XX^{Paf} female mice from the cross between C57BL/6J female and X^{Paf}Y male mice

XY.FT: sex-reversed XY female mice from the cross between C57BL/6J female and B6.Y^{TIR} male mice

XY.MT: XY male mice from the cross between C57BL/6J female and B6.Y^{TIR} male mice

YDMR: Y-chromosome dependent sex-associated differentially methylated region

Yp: short arm of the Y chromosome

Yq: long arm of the Y chromosome

Y^{TIR}: Tirano Y chromosome

Zfy1: zinc finger protein 1, Y chromosome gene

Zfy2: zinc finger protein 2, Y chromosome gene

Chapter 1:

Introduction

1.1. Sexual dimorphism

Sexual dimorphism refers to the differences between males and females of a given species (reviewed in (Frayer & Wolpoff, 1985; Grath & Parsch, 2016; McCombe & Greer, 2014; Mesnick & Ralls, 2018)). Sexual dimorphism is observed as early as embryonic development and throughout mammalian lifetime, including humans and mice. During early embryonic development in mice, male embryos develop faster than female embryos (Tsunoda et al, 1985). At the time of birth in humans, male newborns weigh more than female newborns (Karn & Penrose, 1951). Males are more susceptible to certain infectious diseases, including bacterial, fungal, parasitic, and viral infections, compared to females (reviewed in (Klein, 2004; McClelland & Smith, 2011)). Males also have a higher risk of developing certain types of cancers that are not associated with reproductive function, such as liver, lung, colon, and skin cancers, and they are more likely to get diagnosed with invasive cancers compared to females (Siegel et al, 2015; 2022). However, females are more susceptible to autoimmune diseases, such as thyroiditis, systemic sclerosis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and Sjögren disease, compared to males (Pillemer et al, 2001; Steen et al, 1997; (reviewed in (Cooper & Stroehla, 2003; Kaminsky et al, 2006)). Additionally, older females have a higher chance of suffering from Alzheimer's disease compared to males of same age (reviewed in (Podcasy & Epperson, 2016; Viña & Lloret, 2010)). These phenotypic differences between mammalian males and females may arise due to their differences in sex-chromosome complement and gonadal sex, and hence differences in genetics and gonadal hormones, respectively. Males have XY chromosomes as sex-chromosome complement, testes as

gonads, and testosterone as the main gonadal hormone while females have XX chromosomes as sex-chromosome complement, ovaries as gonads, and estrogen as the main gonadal hormone.

1.2. Sex determination (the role of the Y chromosome) and gonadal hormones

1.2.1. Sex determination and the role of the Y chromosome

Sex determination in mice occurs during early embryonic development; around embryonic day 10.5 (E10.5), and if the fertilized egg contains XX or XY chromosomes, the embryo will develop as a female or a male, respectively (reviewed in (Eggers & Sinclair, 2012; Greenfield, 2015; Swain & Lovell-Badge, 1999)). However, when XX or XY gonads begin to form at E10.0, they are morphologically and functionally identical to each other and they have the potential to become either ovaries or testes, respectively, and hence they are termed bipotential gonads (reviewed in (Greenfield, 2015; Kashimada & Koopman, 2010; Mäkelä et al, 2018)). Sex determination in the bipotential gonads occurs when the Y-linked gene (*Sry*) is expressed and subsequently contributes to the initiation of testis determining pathway by upregulating factors required for testes to differentiate (Koopman et al, 1991; Welshons & Russell, 1959; (reviewed in (Arnold, 2017; Cameron & Sinclair, 1997; Capel, 2017; Greenfield, 2015; Lowell-Badge, 1993)).

The testis-determining gene <u>s</u>ex determining <u>r</u>egion, <u>Y</u> (*Sry*) resides on the short arm of the Y chromosome (Gubbay et al, 1990). *Sry* encodes a protein that contains a DNA-binding high mobility group (HMG) box domain and acts as a transcription factor (Harley et al, 1992; Sinclair et al, 1990; (reviewed in (Warr & Greenfield, 2012)). *Sry* is transiently expressed in the somatic cells, specifically pre-Sertoli cells, of XY bipotential gonad between E10.5 and E12.5 (reviewed in (Kashimada & Koopman, 2010; Warr & Greenfield, 2012)). SRY expression in the pre-Sertoli

cells leads to the activation of its immediate target termed sry-box transcription factor (*Sox9*) gene at E11.5 by binding to the testis-specific enhancer of *Sox9* core (TESCO) (Sekido & Lovell-Badge, 2008; reviewed in (Capel, 2017; Kashimada & Koopman, 2010; Mäkelä et al, 2018; Warr & Greenfield, 2012)). *Sox9* also contains a DNA-binding HMG box domain and is necessary for the differentiation of both Sertoli cells and testes (Barrionuevo et al, 2006; Chaboissier et al, 2004; Kent et al, 1996; Sekido et al, 2004; (reviewed in Barrionuevo et al, 2011)). Differentiation of testes requires high levels of continuous expression of *Sox9*, and hence SOX9 employs a positive feedback loop where it acts together with its target fibroblast growth factor 9 (FGF9) to maintain continuously its expression at high levels (reviewed in (Capel, 2017)). FGF9 functions to inhibit the expression of Wnt family member 4 (*Wnt4*) gene involved in the activation of genes important for the differentiation of ovaries, and hence female pathway (reviewed in (Capel, 2017; Kashimada & Koopman, 2010)).

1.2.2. Gonadal hormones

Testosterone is the main male sex hormone that is essential for the male reproductive system and male secondary sexual characteristics (reviewed in (Davey & Grossmann, 2016; Klein, 2004; Tyagi et al, 2017)). Testosterone, the main androgen, is synthesized from cholesterol in the mitochondria of the Leydig cells of the testes and then secreted from the testes (reviewed in (Luetjens & Weinbauer, 2012; Norman & Henry, 2015)). Testosterone is converted into its more potent form dihydrotestosterone (DHT) by 5 α -reductase enzyme and DHT triggers the urogenital sinus and the genital tubercle to differentiate into the prostate and penis, respectively, which are the parts of the external male genitalia (reviewed in (Bagatell & Bremner, 2003; Jordan & Doncarlos, 2008; Marchetti & Barth, 2013; Norman & Henry, 2015; Roy et al, 1998)).

Testosterone can be further modified into E_2 or 17β -estradiol, a form of estrogen (reviewed in (Dong & Hardy, 2004)).

Testosterone is aromatized to E_2 in the brain by cytochrome P450 aromatase (P450arom) enzyme and both testosterone and E_2 are involved in the masculinization of the developing brain (reviewed in (Dong & Hardy, 2004; Lenz & McCarthy, 2010; McCarthy, 2009)). Estrogens including 17 β -estradiol (E_2), estrone (E_1), and estriol (E_3) are also synthesized from cholesterol and are the primary female sex hormones important for the female reproductive system and female secondary sexual characteristics (reviewed in (Chen et al, 2019; Gruber et al, 2002; Leung et al, 2004)). E_2 is the most active form of estrogens in females and is produced and secreted by the granulosa cells of the ovaries (reviewed in (Chen et al, 2019; Cui et al, 2013; Gruber et al, 2002)). E_2 is also involved in the growth, differentiation, and function of nonreproductive tissues, such as skeletal, cardiovascular, and nervous systems both in males and females (reviewed in (Chen et al, 2019; Deroo & Korach, 2006)).

Androgens and estrogens mediate their effect on sexual differentiation by binding to their cognate receptors - androgen receptor (AR) and estrogen receptors (ERs), respectively - present on the surface of the target cells. Ligand bound AR and ligand bound ERs enter the nucleus of the target cells and regulate the expression of the target genes by binding to androgen response elements (AREs) and estrogen response elements (EREs), respectively, present within the promoter or enhancer regions of the target genes (reviewed in (Davey & Grossmann, 2016; Gruber et al, 2002; Hall et al, 2001; Kiyama & Wada-Kiyama, 2015; Wallach et al, 1996)).

1.3. The sex-chromosome complement

Sex-chromosome complement of mammalian males and females, including humans and

mice, are XY and XX, respectively. Sex-chromosome complement evolved from a pair of autosomes as a consequence of the emergence of the sex-determining gene *Sry* on one of the autosomes and that chromosome later became the Y chromosome (reviewed in (Arnold, 2019; Disteche et al, 2002; Ohno, 1966)). Regardless of X and Y chromosomes being homologs, they differ significantly in size. The evolving X chromosome preserved most of the ancestral genes while only 2% of the ancestral genes survived on the evolving Y chromosome (Soh et al, 2014). The X and Y chromosomes recombine only at the pseudoautosomal region (PAR) present at the end of their long arm during male meiosis (Soh et al, 2014; reviewed in (Arnold, 2019; Raudsepp & Chowdhary, 2015)). Testis-specific genes and genes important for fertility of males reside throughout the rest of the Y chromosome and this region is termed <u>male-specific region of the Y</u> chromosome (MSY) (Skaletsky et al, 2003; Soh et al, 2014).

1.3.1. X-inactivation

The human X chromosome contains approximately 800 and the mouse X chromosome contains approximately 850 protein-coding genes (Mueller et al, 2013). One of the two X chromosomes in XX females undergoes inactivation during early embryonic development (Lyon, 1961; (reviewed in (Balaton & Brown, 2016; Berletch et al, 2010; Posynick & Brown, 2019)). The purpose of X-inactivation is to balance X-linked gene dosage differences between males and females carrying one and two X chromosomes, respectively (reviewed in (Augui et al, 2011; Deng et al, 2014; Disteche & Berletch, 2015)). However, approximately 15% of X-linked genes in humans and 3-7% of X-linked genes in mice escape X-inactivation, and hence they are termed escape genes (Berletch et al, 2015; Carrel & Willard, 2005; (reviewed in (Balaton & Brown, 2016; Posynick & Brown, 2019)). Escape genes can reside within PAR or outside PAR (Lahn et al, 1997; (reviewed in (Disteche & Berletch, 2015)). Certain escape genes residing outside PAR have a Y-

linked homolog (Lahn et al, 1997; (reviewed in (Disteche & Berletch, 2015)). Escape genes residing outside PAR are expressed in higher dosage in individuals carrying two or more X chromosomes compared to those carrying one X chromosome, thus resulting in differences in gene expression and hence differences in phenotypes between males and females (reviewed in (Arnold, 2017; Berletch et al, 2011; Disteche, 2012; Fang et al, 2019; Posynick & Brown, 2019)). Differences in gene expression are also observed in mouse embryos carrying one X chromosome *versus* two X chromosomes (Schulz et al, 2014; Werner et al, 2017).

In mice, four days after fertilization (at two-cell stage), imprinted X-inactivation occurs on the paternally inherited X chromosome and this process is not random and does not occur in humans (Okamoto et al, 2005; (reviewed in (Augui et al, 2011; Deng et al, 2014)). The inactivated paternal X chromosome is then reactivated in the inner cell mass and then the random Xinactivation occurs at the blastocyst stage (Mak et al, 2014; (reviewed in (Avner & Heard, 2001; Disteche & Berletch, 2015)). X-inactive specific transcript (Xist) gene residing within a region termed X-inactivation centre (XIC) is an important regulator of X-inactivation because the X chromosome to be inactivated upregulates the expression of Xist (Kay et al, 1993; Penny et al, 1996; (reviewed in (Deng et al, 2014; Disteche & Berletch, 2015; Heard & Disteche, 2006)). Xist coats the inactive X chromosome in *cis* effect and one can observe this effect as a cloud within the nucleus of somatic cells using RNA-FISH (Clemson et al, 1996; (reviewed in (Disteche & Berletch, 2015; Heard & Disteche, 2006; Lu et al, 2017)). Next, Xist recruits repressive epigenetics marks, which deacetylate histone proteins, methylate lysine 27 of histone H3, and ubiquitinate lysine 119 of histone H3, to the promoter regions of the genes residing on the inactive X chromosome (reviewed in (Balaton & Brown, 2016; Disteche & Berletch, 2015; Galupa & Heard, 2018)). Further, DNA methylation plays a key role in stably maintaining the genes on the inactive X chromosome in silent state and DNA methylation also recruits other repressive epigenetic marks (reviewed in (Deng et al, 2014; Disteche & Berletch, 2015; Heard & Disteche, 2006; Riggs, 1975)).

1.3.2. The Y chromosome

The mammalian Y chromosome, for a long time, was considered to be functionally inactive, gene poor, and highly heterochromatic due to the high contents of repetitive and noncoding regions residing within its MSY. However, it was demonstrated that the mouse MSY, particularly that of the C57BL/6J Y chromosome, contains approximately 700 protein-coding genes and is 99.9% euchromatic, of which 98% is ampliconic sequences different from repetitive sequences (Soh et al, 2014). It was also established that the C57BL/6J Y chromosome is 94.7 Mb long making it the largest mammalian Y chromosome compared to human, chimpanzee, and rhesus Y chromosomes (Bergstrom et al, 1998; Soh et al, 2014). Since only 2% of the ancestral genes survived on the evolving C57BL/6J Y chromosome, it is predictable that the mouse Y chromosome is composed of both ancestral and acquired genes. The former ones have housekeeping functions in transcription, translation, and protein degradation while the latter ones have testis-specific expression and hence suggesting their involvement in male gametogenesis (Bellott et al, 2014; Soh et al, 2014; (reviewed in (Disteche et al, 2002)). The long arm of the C57BL/6J Y chromosome (Yq) contains most of the acquired genes, except few of them dispersed between the ancestral genes residing on the short arm of the Y chromosome (Soh et al, 2014). The acquired genes are both non-coding and protein-coding genes and the protein-coding genes exist both in amplified copies and single copy (Soh et al, 2014). The ancestral genes, including Sry, are located within the short arm of the Y chromosome (Yp), and they all exist in single copy, except *Rbmy* that exists in 35 copies (Soh et al, 2014). Additionally, the ancestral genes are expressed either exclusively in the testis or ubiquitously throughout the body (Bellott et al, 2014; Soh et al, 2014).

Y-linked protein-coding genes that may either directly or indirectly influence DNA methylation are all located on Yp (**Fig 1.1**).

Zinc finger proteins 1 and 2, Y chromosome (*Zfy1* and *Zfy2*) genes have testis-specific expression (Bellott et al, 2014; Soh et al, 2014). *Zfy1* and *Zfy2* encode proteins of 782 and 783 amino acids, respectively, and both protein products contain 13 zinc-fingers, a characteristic of transcription factor and hence both genes have the ability to regulate gene expression by acting as transcriptional activators (Mardon & Page, 1989; Nagamine et al, 1990; Taylor-Harris et al, 1995).

Ubiquitin activating enzyme E1, Y chromosome (*Uba1y*) gene is expressed only in the testis (Bellott et al, 2014; Odorisio et al, 1996; Soh et al, 2014). This gene encodes a protein that activates ubiquitin and ubiquitination is one of the histone modifications, including phosphorylation, acetylation, sumolyation, and methylation, that are involved in gene regulation (reviewed in (Alaskhar Alhamwe et al, 2018; Bernstein et al, 2007; Bohnsack & Pandey, 2021; Gibney & Nolan, 2010; Weinhold, 2006)). Monoubiquitination and polyubiquitination of proteins have different effects on the target proteins in the sense that the former is involved in gene regulation while the latter is involved in protein degradation (reviewed in (Alaskhar Alhamwe et al, 2018)). It was demonstrated that monoubiquitination of histone H2A and histone H2B is normally associated with gene repression and gene activation, respectively (reviewed in (Alaskhar Alhamwe et al, 2018)).

Ubiquitin specific peptidase 9, Y chromosome (Usp9y) gene is expressed exclusively in the testis (Bellott et al, 2014; Brown et al, 1998; Soh et al, 2014). This gene encodes a protein that cleaves the ubiquitin moiety from ubiquitin-tagged precursors and/or ubiquitinylated proteins

(Bellott et al, 2014). It is, therefore, logical to assume that Usp9y is involved in gene regulation through the process of deubiquitination.

Lysine demethylase 5D (*Kdm5d*) gene is expressed ubiquitously in the adult mice (Agulnik et al, 1994; Bellott et al, 2014; Soh et al, 2014). *Kdm5d* encodes a protein that demethylates lysine 4 of histone H3 present on gene promoter regions and this histone modification is associated with gene repression (Barski et al, 2007; Bellott et al, 2014). KDM5D belongs to the Jumonji C-terminal domain (JmjC) family of histone demethylases that contain two domains, which are Jumonji N-terminal (JmjN) and JmjC domains (Kosugi et al, 2020; (reviewed in (Harmeyer et al, 2017; Hou & Yu, 2010)). The JmjN domain plays an important role in the activity and stability of the JmjC domain that carries out the catalytic activity of KDM5D (Kosugi et al, 2020; (reviewed in (Hou & Yu, 2010)). It was determined that *Kdm5d* was involved in the regulation of sex-biased genes in mice in that sex-biased gene expression was altered when *Kdm5d* was mutated (Mizukami et al, 2019). It was shown that mutations in the X-linked homolog of KDM5D, KDM5C was associated with loss of DNA methylation in humans and hence the mutations affected sex-biased DNA methylation (Grafodatskaya et al, 2013).

Ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat containing, Y-linked (Uty) gene is ubiquitously expressed throughout the body (Bellott et al, 2014; Greenfield et al, 1996; Soh et al, 2014). This gene is involved in gene regulation by associating with different complexes including H3K4 methyl transferase complex, the SWI/SNF chromatin complex, and heart transcription factor (Shpargel et al, 2012). For example, it was demonstrated that Uty was involved in the activation of *Fnbp1* by influencing the methylation level of lysine 4 of histone H3 (Shpargel et al, 2012). *Sry* is present on the short arm of the Y chromosome and expressed in the embryonic gonad (Koopman et al, 1990; Soh et al, 2014). This gene encodes a protein containing a DNA-binding HMG box domain and acts as a transcription factor (Harley et al, 1992; Sinclair et al, 1990). Therefore, *Sry* can be considered as a potential regulator of gene expression.

1.3.2.1. Genetic variations in the Y chromosome

Genetic variations in DNA sequences often have a deleterious outcome and hence mutation is a way to introduce changes in DNA sequences (reviewed in (Alzu'bi et al, 2019; Choudhuri, 2014; Rohner, 2016)). There are different types of mutations, including a chromosomal mutation, a frameshift mutation, and a point mutation, that generate changes in DNA sequences (reviewed in (Cardoso et al, 2015; Choudhuri, 2014; Spencer et al, 2015)). A point mutation will generate a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) between individuals and a point mutation termed a nonsynonymous SNP or a missense SNP changes the amino acid sequence of a protein, and hence results in a protein with different functions (reviewed in (Cartegni et al, 2002; Choudhuri, 2014; Spencer et al, 2015; Zheng et al, 2014)). A nonsense SNP, another type of point mutation, results in premature termination of translation or a shorter protein product (reviewed in (Cartegni et al, 2002; Choudhuri, 2014; Morais et al, 2020; Spencer et al, 2015)). Another way through which premature termination of translation can be generated is occurrence of mutations in splice site that change the joining of exons (reviewed in (Cartegni et al, 2002; Spencer et al, 2015)). However, a synonymous SNP can be not deleterious in the sense that the change in the amino acid sequence does not affect the protein function and hence results in same protein product (reviewed in (Bailey et al, 2021; Sauna & Kimchi-Sarfaty, 2011; Spencer et al, 2015)).

It was established for the first time that the mouse Y chromosome contains polymorphisms

27

and/or genetic variations between different mouse strains using restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) (Bishop et al, 1985). It was demonstrated that differentially expressed genes between males and females of one mouse strain were not differentially expressed between males and females of another mouse strain (C57BL/6J versus CAST/EiJ strains) (Matthews et al, 2021). In addition to differences in genetic background, genetic variants in the Y chromosome could also be inducing differences in gene expression between the two mouse strains because it was established that Mus musculus castaneus (CAST/EiJ) Y chromosome diverged from Mus musculus musculus (C57BL/6J) Y chromosome 1 million years ago (Soh et al, 2014). Further, Morgan & Pardo-Manuel de Villena, (2017) identified thousands of single-nucleotide variants (SNVs) and hundreds of indels on the Y chromosome of different mouse strains (Morgan & Pardo-Manuel de Villena, 2017). It was also demonstrated that genetic variation in the Y chromosome affected the survival of male mice infected with influenza A virus and coxsackievirus B3 that leads to myocarditis (Case et al, 2012; Krementsov et al, 2017). Genetic variations in the Y chromosome also affected the susceptibility of male mice to autoimmune disease, multiple sclerosis (Case et al, 2013).



Fig 1.1. Map of the mouse Y chromosome with positions of Y-linked genes involved in gene regulation and/or histone modifications (not in scale). Yp arm and Yq arm represent the short arm and the long arm of the chromosome, respectively. The pseudoautosomal region (PAR) is the region of homology between the X and Y chromosomes where they recombine during meiosis.

1.4. DNA methylation

DNA methylation is a reversible but stable modification of DNA and involves the covalent addition of a methyl group to the fifth carbon of a cytosine base that is present next to a guanine base throughout the genome and they are termed CpG dinucleotides (reviewed in (Jaenisch & Bird, 2003; Kaminsky et al, 2006; Newell-Price et al, 2000; Suzuki & Bird, 2008; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). DNA methylation is a part of epigenetic modifications that regulate gene expression without causing alterations in the underlying DNA sequences (reviewed in (Esteller, 2008; Gibney & Nolan, 2010; Waterland, 2006; Weinhold, 2006)). DNA methylation is required for the normal development of an organism in that it is involved in cellular differentiation (reviewed in (Ambrosi et al, 2017; Huang & Fan, 2010; Miranda & Jones, 2007)). It can also arise randomly during lifetime or under the environmental influences in an adult organism and hence its involvement in many cancer types (reviewed in (Cedar & Bergman, 2009; Esteller, 2008; Jaenisch & Bird, 2003; Suzuki & Bird, 2008)). In brief, DNA methylation is involved in gene regulation, including Xinactivation (section 1.3.1) and genomic imprinting, as well as in the silencing of repetitive elements throughout the genome and hence DNA methylation plays an important role in maintaining genomic stability (reviewed in (Ambrosi et al, 2017; Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Jansz, 2019; Smith & Meissner, 2013)).

1.4.1. Role of DNA methylation in transposable elements

DNA sequences that have the capacity to move within the genome is termed <u>transposable</u> <u>elements</u> (TEs) and TEs are major constituents of eukaryotic genomes, including humans and mice, and hence their significance in the mammalian genome diversity and expansion (Zhou et al, 2020; (reviewed in (Bourque et al, 2018; Jansz, 2019; Platt et al, 2018; Zamudio & Bourc'his, 2010)). There are two major types of TEs, which are DNA transposons and retrotransposons that use a DNA intermediate and an RNA intermediate, respectively, to change their positions within the genome (reviewed in (Bourque et al, 2018; Goerner-Potvin & Bourque, 2018; Jansz, 2019)). Retrotransposons are further classified into two different types, which are long terminal repeat (LTR) elements and non-LTR elements that include long interspersed nuclear elements (LINEs) and short interspersed nuclear elements (SINEs), and DNA methylation mainly regulates the expression of retrotransposons compared to that of DNA transposons (Walsh et al, 1998; (reviewed in (Chuong et al, 2017; Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Jansz, 2019; Platt et al, 2018)). Promoter regions of retrotransposons are CpG-rich and when they are methylated the expression of retrotransposons are repressed and hence their ability to move within the genome and cause genomic instability are inhibited (reviewed in (Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Grundy et al, 2022; Smith & Meissner, 2013)). Hypomethylation of promoter regions of retrotransposons is associated with formation of many cancer types in the sense that when retrotransposons are expressed and inserted into different positions in the genome, they disturb genes such as tumor-suppressor genes and oncogenes (reviewed in (Bourque et al, 2018; Jansz, 2019; Yoder et al, 1997)). Additionally, hypomethylated promoter regions of retrotransposons is associated with DNA breaks and autoimmune diseases, and many more disorders (reviewed in (Bourque et al, 2018; Chénais, 2022; Grundy et al, 2022;)).

1.4.2. DNA methyltransferases

DNA methylation is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) that add a methyl group to the fifth carbon of a cytosine base (reviewed in (Gibney & Nolan, 2010; Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Jansz, 2019; Miranda & Jones, 2007; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). There are four biologically active DNMTs, which are DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and DNMT3C, while

DNMT3L is the one that encodes biologically inactive protein (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Chédin, 2011; Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Newell-Price et al, 2000; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). The catalytic methyltransferase domain of DNMTs is located in the C-terminal end while the Nterminal end is most variable between the different DNMTs (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). DNMT1 is exclusively involved in the methylation of hemi-methylated DNA, which is generated after DNA replication, and hence it is termed maintenance enzyme (Lei et al, 1996; (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Gibney & Nolan, 2010; Miranda & Jones, 2007; Smith & Meissner, 2013)). DNMT3A, DNMT3B, DNMT3C, and DNMT3L are all involved in de *novo* DNA methylation, and hence they are termed *de novo* methyltransferases (Okano et al, 1998; (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Chédin, 2011; Greenberg & Bourc'his, 2019; Jansz, 2019; Lyko, 2018; Newell-Price et al, 2000; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). DNMT3L is an important cofactor for both DNMT3A/B and enhances their catalytic activities by directly interacting with them (Gowher et al, 2005; Suetake et al, 2004; (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Jansz, 2019; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). It was demonstrated that embryos lacking either Dnmt1 or Dnmt3b were not viable while mice lacking *Dnmt3a* lived approximately 4 weeks postnatally (Okano et al, 1999; Ueda et al, 2006; (reviewed in (Ambrosie et al, 2017; Chédin, 2011; Zeng & Chen, 2019)). While Dnmt3c, once identified as a pseudogene, is a duplicated gene of Dnmt3b, with 70% of sequence identity, and specific to rodent genomes (Barau et al, 2016; Lees-Murdock et al, 2004; (reviewed in (Zeng & Chen, 2019)). DNMT3C methylates promoter regions of young retrotransposons in the male germ line and *Dnmt3c* mutant animals develop normally but only males are affected in the sense that they are sterile (Barau et al, 2016; (reviewed in (Jansz, 2019; Zeng & Chen, 2019)).

1.4.3. Interaction between DNA methylation and histone modifications

DNA methylation and chromatin modifications, such as histone methylation, interact with

each other to regulate gene expression (reviewed in (Cedar & Bergman, 2009; Jin et al, 2011; Li et al, 2021)). For example, DNMT1 is recruited to hemi-methylated DNA by UHRF1, E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase that preferentially recognizes and binds to hemi-methylated DNA (Liu et al, 2013; Sharif et al, 2007; (reviewed in (Moore et al, 2013)). During cellular differentiation, DNMT3A/B are recruited to the promoter regions of the target genes by the histone methyltransferases G9a that methylates lysine 9 of histone H3 to repress genes responsible for maintaining pluripotent state (Fuks et al, 2003; reviewed in (Casciello et al, 2015; Cedar & Bergman, 2009; Rose & Klose, 2014)). DNMTs interacts with another histone modification, lysine methyltransferase SETDB1 that methylates lysine 9 of histone H3 proteins, to silence repetitive elements in pre-implantation embryos (reviewed in (Ecco et al, 2017; Jansz, 2019)). DNA methylation and histone modifications also interact with each other to maintain genes on the inactive X chromosome stably in repressed state (section 1.3.1). Additionally, EZH2, a part of polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) that methylates lysine 27 of histone H3, interacts with DNMTs to repress the expression of their target genes (Viré et al, 2006; (reviewed in (Jin et al, 2011)).

1.4.4. DNA demethylation

Methylated DNA can be demethylated or reversed and the process of DNA demethylation can occur in two ways; passive and active (reviewed in (Moore et al, 2013; Wu & Zhang, 2017)). Passive DNA demethylation is associated with loss and reduced activity of DNMT1 in the sense that methylation level of hemi-methylated DNA is reduced after each cell division and the methyl group is eventually removed (reviewed in (Ambrosi et al, 2017; Bayraktar & Kreutz, 2018; Wu & Zhang, 2010)). Active DNA demethylation involves <u>ten-eleven</u> <u>translocation</u> methylcytosine dioxygenase<u>s</u> (TETs) that catalyze the conversion of 5-methylcytosine (5mC) to 5hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), which in turn is further modified into 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC) (He et al, 2011; Ito et al, 2011; (reviewed in (Ambrosi et al, 2017; Bohnsack & Pandey, 2021; Kohli & Zhang, 2013)). There are three TET proteins, which are TET1, TET2, and TET3, and their catalytic domain is present within the C-terminus (reviewed in (Rasmussen & Helin, 2016)). The N-terminus of both TET1 and TET3 harbors a CXXC domain that binds to unmethylated CpGs while TET2 interacts with a protein containing CXXC domain, IDAX, to exert its effect on DNA demethylation (reviewed in (Ambrosi et al, 2017; Bohnsack & Pandey, 2021; Rasmussen & Helin, 2016)).

1.5. Sexual dimorphism in gene expression and DNA methylation

Sexual dimorphism in gene expression (also referred to as sex-biased gene expression) refers to the genes that are differentially expressed between males and females of a given species (reviewed in (Ellegren & Parsch, 2007; Grath & Parsch, 2016; Ingleby et al, 2014)). The genes that have higher expression in males compared to females are termed male-biased genes while the genes that have higher expression in females compared to males are termed female-biased genes (Ellegren & Parsch, 2007; Yang et al, 2006). All the analyzed non-reproductive tissues harbored differentially expressed genes between male and female mice but the differentially expressed genes were tissue-specific in that they had different functions depending on the tissues they were present (Yang et al, 2006). Sexual dimorphism in gene expression is mostly studied in the livers of different organisms, such as zebrafish, rats, mice, and humans, to better understand the underlying mechanisms responsible for the establishment of sex-biased gene expression between males and females (Kwekel et al, 2010; Yang et al, 2006; Zhang et al, 2011; Zheng et al, 2013). In addition, liver was determined to be a non-reproductive tissue that harbored the highest number of differentially expressed genes between male and female mice (Yang et al, 2006). It was

demonstrated that sex-chromosome complement, uncoupled from gonadal sex hormones, was enough to cause sexual dimorphism in gene expression between male and female mouse embryonic stem cells, and autosomes contained higher number of differentially expressed genes compared to sex chromosomes (Werner et al, 2017; (reviewed in (Engel, 2018)). Further, another study demonstrated that the number of X chromosomes, uncoupled from gonadal sex, had an impact on gene expression levels and hence sex-biased gene expression using a mouse model termed "Four Core Genotypes" (Wijchers et al, 2010). It was determined that gene expression was associated with hypomethylation (Anastasiadi et al, 2018; Zhuang et al, 2020). DNA methylation, therefore, could be one of the factors regulating and/or responsible for the establishment of sexbiased gene expression between males and females and hence sexual dimorphism in DNA methylation has been demonstrated in many organisms including insects, reptiles, chicken, zebrafish, mice, and humans (Grimm et al, 2019; Hu et al, 2019; Laing et al, 2018; Rancourt et al, 2018; Singmann et al, 2015; Xia et al, 2017). Both autosomes and sex chromosomes were shown to harbor sex-associated differentially methylated regions (sDMRs) between males and females, including humans and mice (García-Calzón et al, 2018; Ho et al, 2018; Zhuang et al, 2020). Same as in sex-biased gene expression, liver was determined to be a non-reproductive tissue that contained higher number of sDMRs in mice (McCormick et al, 2017). It was demonstrated in mouse liver that sDMRs were hypermethylated in females compared to males on autosomes (McCormick et al, 2017; Reizel et al, 2015; Zhuang et al, 2020). Same result was observed in humans in that sDMRs present on autosomes were hypermethylated in females compared to males when whole blood samples were analyzed (Grant et al, 2022). On the contrary, it was demonstrated that LINE-1 repetitive regions were hypomethylated in females compared to males when blood was analyzed (El-Maarri et al, 2011). Further, it was established that sDMRs were dependent on sex phenotype, X-chromosome dosage, and the presence of the Y chromosome (also referred as Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs or yDMRs for short) in mouse livers (Zhuang et al, 2020). More recently, the role of gonadal sex in sex-biased DNA methylation has been studied (Alogayil et al, 2021) but the underlying mechanisms responsible for the establishment of sex-biased DNA methylation still remain poorly understood. Our study, therefore, wanted to explore the influence of sex-chromosome complement, especially that of the Y chromosome, on sex-biased DNA methylation using mouse as a model organism.

1.6. Mouse models that allow to separate the effects of the sex-chromosome complement and gonadal sex

There are mouse models that permit to distinguish the effects of the sex-chromosome complement from gonadal sex. Male mice harboring the patchy fur (*Paf*) mutation present close to the PAR of the X chromosome were used to study the impacts of X-chromosome dosage on sDMRs (Lane & Davisson, 1990). The *Paf* mutation interferes with the correct segregation of the X and Y chromosomes during male meiosis and XO female offspring carrying only the maternal X chromosome are generated (Lane & Davisson, 1990). B6.Y^{TIR} (Tirano) mice carrying a variant of *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome on the C57BL/6J genetic background were used to generate mice with same sex-chromosome complement but different sex phenotypes (XY males vs. sex-reversed XY females) and mice with same sex phenotype but different sex-chromosome complement (XX females vs. sex-reversed XY females) (Nagamine et al, 1987). Therefore, through these mouse models, the effects of sex-chromosome complement and gonadal sex on sex-biased DNA methylation can be examined independently from each other (Zhuang et al, 2020).

1.7. Outstanding question to be solved, hypothesis, and objectives
The main scientific question that we are asking here is whether the presence of the Y chromosome influences autosomal DNA methylation.

In order to solve the main question of my project, we studied mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement (XX females, XY males, sex-reversed XY females, and XO females). This allows to distinguish the effect of the Y chromosome from that of X-chromosome dosage and sex-phenotype on autosomal DNA methylation.

We hypothesized that the presence of the Y chromosome influenced DNA methylation due to the functions of one or several Y-linked genes that acted as epigenetic modifiers or transcription factors. To test the hypothesis, we set the following research objectives:

1. To identify yDMRs using WGBS data from mouse liver and brain, and design and validate pyrosequencing DNA methylation assays for 3-5 yDMRs;

2. To determine if the presence of yDMRs was limited to liver and brain by comparing organs derived from different germ layers;

3. To determine if genetic background and more specifically genetic variants of the Y chromosome influence yDMR methylation;

4. To test the impact of a specific Y-linked gene candidate, *Kdm5d* on autosomal DNA methylation

Chapter 2:

Methodology

2.1. Mouse strains and crosses

C57BL/6J mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA).

B6.Y^{*TIR*} (Tirano) mice carry the Y chromosome from the wild derived mouse captured in Tirano (Italy) on the C57BL/6J genetic background (Nagamine et al, 1987). The Tirano Y chromosome carries a variant of the sex-determining region Y (*Sry*) gene that has delayed expression on the C57BL/6J genetic background (Coward et al, 1994; Park et al, 2011). SRY is essential for the regulation of the sry-box transcription factor (*Sox9*) gene, which in turn is necessary for testis differentiation (Chaboissier et al, 2004). The Tirano SRY is not effective on the C57BL/6J genetic background and hence delayed expression of *Sox9* (Park et al, 2011). As a consequence, testis development often fails in B6.Y^{*TIR*} mice and results in high rates of sexreversed XY female offspring (Taketo-Hosotani et al, 1989). Therefore, we used B6.Y^{*TIR*} mice to generate XY males (XY.MT) as well as sex-reversed XY females (XY.FT) for our study (**Fig 2.1**). XX females (XX.FT) from the same cross were also included in the study. These mice were provided by Dr. Teruko Taketo (McGill University, QC, Canada).

B6.C3H/HeSn-*Paf* (referred to as *Paf* from here on) male mice carry the patchy fur (*Paf*) mutation located close to the pseudoautosomal region of the X chromosome. This mutation interferes with the correct segregation of the X and Y chromosomes during male meiosis and results in XO female offspring (Lane & Davisson, 1990). Approximately 20% of the female offspring from the crosses between C57BL/6J females and *Paf* ($X^{Paf}Y$) males are mice with monosomy X carrying only the maternal X chromosome (Burgoyne & Evans, 2000). The

B6.C3H/HeSn-*Paf* mice used in our study were the result of five to six generations of backcrossing of *Paf* males (purchased from the Jackson Laboratory) to C57BL/6J females and were used to generate XO (XO.F) and XX^{Paf} (XX^{Paf} .F) females (**Fig 2.1**). These mice were provided by Dr. Teruko Taketo (McGill University, QC, Canada).

FVB/NJ males (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were crossed with C57BL/6J females. The resulting F₁ (C57BL/6J female x FVB/NJ male) (FB) mice were analyzed in the study. The FVB/NJ males carry the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome (**Fig 2.1**) (Mardon et al, 1989). FVB/NJ male mice were a gift from Dr. Loydie Majewska (McGill University, QC, Canada).

Kdm5d knock-out mice. Exon 1 of *Kdm5d*, which encodes the Jumonji N-terminal (JmjN) domain, was targeted to knock out the gene and the mutation resulted in a deletion of two nucleotides, causing a frameshift mutation and premature termination of translation (Kosugi et al, 2020). DNA samples from livers and spleens of *Kdm5d* mutant mice and controls were provided by Dr. Tohru Kimura (Kitasato University, Minami-ku, Sagamihara, Kanagawa, Japan). The wild type (control) and *Kdm5d* mutant mice have the same genetic background (Kosugi et al, 2020).

Liver samples from other strains of mice (C57BL/10J, C57BL/6N, A/J, C3H/HeN, DBA/1J, and MOLF/EiJ) were a gift from Dr. Danielle Malo (McGill University, QC, Canada).

2.2. Organ collection

For the analysis of DNA methylation, liver, spleen, heart, lung, brain, and tails were collected from 8-week old XX.FT, XY.MT and sex-reversed XY.FT mice. Only livers were collected from 16-week old XX.FT, XY.MT and sex-reversed XY.FT mice. Testes were collected

from XY.MT.

For the analysis of DNA methylation, livers were collected from 8-week old XX^{*Paf*} female, XO female, C57BL/6J female, C57BL/6J male, C57BL/6N male, FB female, and FB male mice.

2.3. DNA extraction, bisulfite conversion, and pyrosequencing analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted using the standard proteinase K/phenol-chloroform protocol. The concentration and integrity of the extracted genomic DNA were determined using nanodrop and 0.7% agarose gel electrophoresis, respectively.

Two hundred fifty to 1000 nanograms of DNA was converted using the EpiTect Bisulfite Kit (QIAGEN, NL), according to manufacturer's instruction. A modification was made to the incubation step, which was extended by five minutes at 95°C and two hours at 60°C.

Bisulfite-converted DNA was amplified using One*Taq* Hot Start DNA polymerase (New England BioLabs, Canada) in a PCR reaction of 30 µl. Pyrosequencing methylation assays were performed using the PyroMark Q24 Advanced platform and PyroMark Q24 Advanced CpG reagents (QIAGEN, NL), according to manufacturer's instructions. The analysis of the results was done using the Pyromark Q24 Advanced software (QIAGEN, NL).

2.4. Selection of target yDMRs and primer design for pyrosequencing methylation assays

The target yDMRs were selected using the list of autosomal sDMRs generated by whole genome bisulfite sequencing methylation analysis. We selected yDMRs that are not present within a region with high density of CGs and not overlapping with SNPs for pyrosequencing methylation assays. Once the reporter yDMRs were selected, the corresponding DNA sequence was used for the primer design using PyroMark Assay Design 2.0 Software (QIAGEN, NL). The list of primers used for pyrosequencing methylation assays is provided in **Table 2.1**.

2.5. Statistical analysis

To test the significance of methylation differences between groups, we used ordinary oneway or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's or Šídák's multiple comparisons tests, respectively, on *GraphPad Prism 9* software.



Fig 2.1. Crosses used in the study.

(From left to right) B6.Y^{*TIR*} male mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6J female mice to generate XX.FT, XY.MT, and sex-reversed XY.FT mice. X^{*Paf*}Y male mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6J female mice to obtain XX^{*Paf*}.F and XO.F mice. Lastly, FVB/NJ male mice were crossed with C57BL/6J female mice. Circles represent females and squares represent males. Filled shapes indicate the mice used in the study.

Name	Position	Chr	Target CG	Forward primer Reverse primer (Biotinylated)		Sequencing primer
Caprin1	Exon	2	103,766,583	TTAAGTAAGGGTGAGGAATTT AAAAAAACTATTTTCATCCCATAAAAA 7 CAA		TGTATTGTGTGTGTAAGGTTT
Chr2_CG1	Intron	2	155,020,225	AGGTTGTAGAGAGGATTTTAGGTT ACTTAAAAACAATTTTTCTAAAAAACCTA ATG CT		AATTGGTTTTTGAGAATGTTA
Ch2qH1_1	Intron	2	155,023,306	TGTGGTATAGTTGTTAAGTAGGAG AGGAT		
СһбҁА	Intergenic	6	13,714,975	GTTATGGAGGTTGGTAATAATGTT ACCAATAAAAATCAAACAATTCA A		GGGGAATATATAGAAAGATATA AAA
Chr9qA5	Exon	9	42,505,444	GTAGAAGGGATTTTAGAAATAAA GATGGTAT	TCTACACCAAATCTTAATCCACTCCAA	GGATTTTAGAAATAAAGATGGT
Chr15qE2	Intergenic	15	84,155,936	AGTAGATTAGGTTTATATATGTGA GT	TAGATTAGGTTTATATATGTGA CCAACCAAAACTAAAAAACCACTA A	
Chr16qB	Intergenic	16	21,107,389	GTTTGTTAAGATTGATAATGGATT AGTTTA	СТСААСААТАСССТАТССТТАААА	TTTAAAAATTTTAGTAGTTTTGT

Table 2.1. List of yDMRs and their pyrosequencing methylation assay primers

Chapter 3:

Research findings

3.1. Selection of the target autosomal yDMRs

To study the influence of the Y chromosome on autosomal DNA methylation, we first had to isolate sDMRs that were dependent solely on the presence of the Y chromosome from sDMRs that were dependent on sex-phenotype and X-chromosome dosage. We, therefore, used four different comparison groups to identify autosomal yDMRs: 1) XX.FT versus XY.MT, 2) XY.FT versus XY.MT 3) XX.FT versus XY.FT, and 4) XX^{Paf}.F versus XO.F. Further, the sDMRs were called if they show methylation difference of at least 20% between the mice in each comparison group. We assumed that the overlapping sDMRs between XX.FT vs. XY.MT and XY.FT vs. XY.MT comparison groups represented the sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs because the mice in each comparison group have different sex phenotypes (female and male). The overlapping sDMRs between XX.FT vs. XY.MT, XX.FT vs. XY.FT, and XX^{Paf}.F vs. XO.F comparison groups represented the X-chromosome dosage dependent sDMRs because the mice in each comparison group have different number of X chromosomes. Lastly, the yDMRs were those that exclusively overlap between XX.FT vs. XY.MT and XX.FT vs. XY.FT comparison groups, but not the XX^{Paf} . F vs. XO.F comparison group (**Table 3.1**). As a result, we have identified a total of 46 autosomal yDMRs in mouse liver. The WGBS pipeline has limitations of yielding both falsenegative and false-positive results. Therefore, to exclude false-positive yDMRs, we examined each one of the 46 yDMRs on UCSC genome browser (GRCm38/mm10). We excluded yDMRs containing differentially methylated CGs that had low quality sequence (or missing data) and inconsistent data from the list of yDMRs. Consequently, only 22 yDMRs were not excluded from the list of yDMRs (Table S1). Out of the 22 yDMRs, 13 were within long terminal repeats (LTRs),

five were in <u>long in</u>terspersed <u>e</u>lements (LINEs) and only four were in unique sequences (**Fig 3.1 a**).

Similar analysis of WGBS data from mouse brain led to the identification of 24 autosomal yDMRs, of which 14 yDMRs had high quality methylation data. Out of the 14 yDMRs, nine overlapped with LTRs, four overlapped with LINEs and only one had a unique sequence (**Fig 3.1 b**).

Table 3.1. The result of WGBS of DNA methylation in mouse liver

Type of sDMRs	Number of autosomal sDMRs identified
Sex-phenotype dependent	2,853
X-chromosome dosage dependent	803
Y-chromosome dependent	46



Fig 3.1. The distribution of yDMRs in mouse liver and brain.

Blue, orange, and gray colors represent the proportions of yDMRs that overlap with LTRs, LINEs, or unique sequences, respectively, in (**a**) liver and (**b**) brain.

3.2. Validation of yDMRs

To study how the presence of the Y chromosome influences autosomal DNA methylation, we selected seven yDMRs based on our selection criteria and designed pyrosequencing methylation assays (**Fig S1**). Next, we performed pyrosequencing DNA methylation assays using livers from 8-week old XX.FT, XY.MT, sex-reversed XY.FT, XX^{*Paf*}.F, and XO.F mice to validate that the reporter yDMRs were Y-chromosome dependent and not X-chromosome dosage dependent. Only four of the seven selected yDMRs had significantly different levels of DNA methylation in XX and XY mice (**Fig S1 a-d**). The remaining three yDMRs had statistically not significant DNA methylation in XX and XY mice, thus they were excluded from further studies (**Fig S1 e-g**).

We observed significantly lower levels of DNA methylation in XY mice compared to XX and XO mice at the *Caprin1*, *Ch6qA* and *Ch2qH1_2* yDMRs (**Fig 3.2 a-c**). For all three assays, XY.MT and sex-reversed XY.FT mice had similar levels of DNA methylation, thus indicating that these reporter yDMRs were not sex-phenotype dependent. Conversely, we observed significantly higher levels of DNA methylation in XY mice compared to XX and XO mice at the *Chr2_CG1* yDMR (**Fig 3.2 d**). We also found not significant DNA methylation difference between XY.MT and sex-reversed XY.FT mice. This shows that *Chr2_CG1* yDMR is not sex-phenotype dependent (**Fig 3.2 d**). Furthermore, we have determined that all the reporter yDMRs are not X-chromosome dosage dependent because XX^{*Paf*}.F and XO.F mice had similar levels of DNA methylation (**Fig 3.2 a-d**).

Our results suggest that our reporter yDMRs are indeed Y-chromosome dependent and not X-chromosome dosage dependent because XY mice had significantly different levels of DNA

methylation compared to XX and XO mice in liver.



Fig 3.2. Validation of yDMRs in mouse liver.

(**a-d**). Methylation levels in mice carrying the Y chromosome. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis represents different sex/genotype groups: XX.FT (n=3-6), XY.MT (n=3-7), XY.FT (n=3-7), XX^{Paf} .F (n=4) and XO.F (n=4). Each point represents one DNA sample. Error bars represent standard deviation and asterisks represent statistically significant DNA methylation differences. (****), (**) and (*) indicate p < 0.0001, p < 0.01 and p < 0.05, respectively. ns – not significant. Significance was tested using ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

3.3. Testing organ-specificity of yDMRs

Next, we asked whether the association between the presence of the Y chromosome and methylation levels was limited to liver and brain, or was common to multiple somatic tissues. We, therefore, analyzed spleen, heart, lung, brain, tail, and testis samples collected from the same mice. We chose these organs because they are derived from different germ layers and hence would show if methylation varies in different germ layers. Liver and lung are derived from the endoderm germ layer (Rosenquist, 1970 & 1971; Douarin, 1975). Spleen and heart are derived from the mesoderm germ layer (Thiel & Downey, 1921; Rawles, 1943). Testis consists of somatic cells derived from mesoderm germ layer and germ cells (Buehr et al, 1993; Merchant-Larios et al, 1993). Lastly, brain is derived from the ectoderm germ layer and tail consists of skin and bone that are derived from ectoderm germ layer and mesoderm germ layer, respectively (Waddington, 1932; Grüneberg, 1956). If the association is brain- and liver-specific, we will conclude that the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation is expressed in brain and liver.

Caprin1, *Ch6qA* and *Ch2qH1_2* yDMRs had significantly lower levels of DNA methylation in XY mice compared to XX mice in all the tested organs (**Fig 3.3 a-c**). Conversely, *Chr2_CG1* yDMR had significantly higher levels of DNA methylation in heart, lung, liver, brain, and tail of XY mice (**Fig 3.3 d**). Interestingly, DNA methylation was high in both XX and XY mice in spleen (**Fig 3.3 d**).

At *Caprin1* and *Ch2qH1_2* yDMRs, testis had similar levels of DNA methylation as the other organs of XY.MT mice (**Fig 3.3 a** and **c**). However, at *Ch6qA* yDMR, testis had higher levels of DNA methylation compared to the other organs of XY.MT mice (**Fig 3.3 b**). At *Chr2_CG1*

yDMR, testis had lower levels of DNA methylation compared to the other organs of XY.MT mice (**Fig 3.3 d**).

Our results suggest that the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation is expressed in all tested tissues or, alternatively, yDMRs arise early in development. However, DNA methylation difference observed between testis and other organs of XY.MT mice could be explained by methylation reprogramming that occurs in the germ line.



Fig 3.3. yDMRs are present in most organs.

(**a-d**). Methylation levels in different organs of XY mice. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis represents different organs. Each point represents one DNA sample: XX.FT (n=3-5), XY.MT (n=4-7), and XY.FT (n=3-7). Error bars represent standard deviation and asterisks represent statistically significant DNA methylation differences. (****) indicates p < 0.0001. ns – not significant. Significance was determined using two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

3.4. Analysis of genetic variants of the Y chromosome

Preliminary pyrosequencing methylation data for *Caprin1* and *Ch6qA* yDMRs generated by Najla AlOgayil, a student in Dr. Naumova's lab, showed that the effect of the Y chromosome on autosomal DNA methylation was present in B6.Y^{TIR} mice, which carry the Y chromosome of a Mus musculus domesticus origin, but not in C57BL/6J mice carrying the Y chromosome of a Mus musculus musculus origin (Fig S2) (Zhuang et al, 2020). Hence, a genetic variant(s) present on the Y^{TIR} chromosome causes lower methylation at certain autosomal regions. To determine if the effect was associated with the *domesticus* variant, we analyzed DNA methylation in livers from different inbred strains of mice carrying either the Mus musculus domesticus Y chromosome (FVB/NJ and MOLF/EiJ) or the Mus musculus musculus Y chromosome (C57BL/6J, C57BL/6N, C57BL/10J, A/J, C3H/HeN, DBA/1J) at the four previously validated yDMRs (Bishop et al, 1985; Nishioka et al, 1986; Nishioka et al, 1987). Additionally, we analyzed livers from F1 (C57BL/6J female x FVB/NJ male) (FB) mice because the male mice carry the Mus musculus domesticus Y chromosome inherited from their father. Based on our preliminary data, we expected to observe different levels of DNA methylation between mice carrying the Mus musculus musculus Y chromosome and mice carrying the Mus musculus domesticus Y chromosome.

Caprin1 and *Ch2qH1_2* yDMRs had lower levels of DNA methylation in XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome compared to XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome (**Fig 3.4 a and c**). However, *Ch6qA* yDMR had lower levels of DNA methylation only in B6.Y^{TIR} mice compared to the other mouse strains (**Fig 3.4 b**). Lastly, *Chr2_CG1* yDMR had higher levels of DNA methylation in XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome compared to XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome compared to XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome compared to XY mice carrying the *Mus musculus for the fig 3.4 d*).

Our results demonstrate that genetic variation in the Y chromosome contributes to variation in DNA methylation, such that mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome have different levels of DNA methylation compared to mice carrying the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome at certain autosomal loci.

Next, to narrow the list of Y-linked gene candidates that could be influencing autosomal DNA methylation, we wanted to identify Y-linked protein-coding genes harboring genetic variation between the *Mus musculus domesticus* and *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosomes.

We chose Y-linked protein-coding genes that have non-synonymous (NS) coding polymorphisms between strains of *domesticus* and *musculus* origins (**Table 3.2**). If a NS substitution occurs in a protein domain that carries out an important function for the protein product, then the protein will acquire an altered function. Next, we wanted to analyze DNA methylation in male mice carrying mutations in our Y-linked gene candidates.



Fig 3.4. Origin of the Y chromosome influences methylation of autosomal yDMRs.

(**a-d**). Methylation levels in livers of mice from different laboratory strains. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis shows the strains or crosses. Each point represents one DNA sample. Error bars show standard deviation. Blue rectangles represent XY male mice and empty orange triangles represent sex-reversed XY female mice.

Gene	Non- synonymous coding position	DNA Polymorphism*	Amino Acid position	Amino Acid Polymorphism*	Protein Domain (Source)	Function
Uba1y	ChrY:821197	T/C	60	V/A	Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1	
Ubaly	ChrY:821486	G/T	127	A/S	(<u>https://www</u> .ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/prot ein/NP_001343972.1)	Activates ubiquitin
Ubaly	ChrY:825910	G/T	355	E/D		
Kdm5d	ChrY:900594	G/C	213	G/A	Disordered	
					(<u>https://beta</u> .uniprot.org/uniprotkb/ Q62240/entry)	Histone demethylase (H3K4me2/3)
Uty	ChrY:1158202	C/T	552	D/N	Disordered (<u>https://beta</u> .uniprot.org/uniprotkb/P 79457/entry)	Histone demethylase (H3K27me3) independent gene regulation by associating with H3K4 methyl transferase complex, the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeler, BRG1, and heart transcription factors
Uty	ChrY:1170117	C/G	280	D/H	Tetratrico-peptide repeat 6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Usp9y	ChrY:1303405	A/G	2503	Y/H	No domain is associated (<u>https://beta</u> .uniprot.org/uniprotkb/ Q91XW2/entry)	
Usp9y	ChrY:1324872	C/T	1728	G/S		
Usp9y	ChrY:1332445	T/G	1633	S/R	Ubiquitin specific protease	
Usp9y	ChrY:1340075	C/T	1435	V/I		Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase
Usp9y	ChrY:1391397	T/C	591	Q/R	No domain is associated	
Usp9y	ChrY:1434349	C/T	371	G/E	-	
Usp9y	ChrY:1448948	A/C	49	Y/D	Disordered	
Zfy2	ChrY:2106304	C/G	777	A/P	No domain is associated	
					(<u>https://beta</u> .uniprot.org/uniprotkb/P 20662/entry)	Transcriptional activation
Zfy2	ChrY:2108497	G/T	388	Q/K	Disordered	

Table 3.2. List of non-synonymous coding variants of Y-linked genes

*The reference allele and/or residue is written first (the reference is the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome).

DNA polymorphisms and related amino acid polymorphisms between the *Mus musculus musculus* and *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosomes were retrieved from UCSC genome browser (https://genome.ucsc.edu/) and MGI (http://www.informatics.jax.org/snp). Information on protein domain affected by NS coding polymorphism was retrieved from (https://beta.uniprot.org/).

3.5. *Kdm5d* knock-out does not influence yDMR methylation levels

Lysine-specific demethylase 5D (*Kdm5d*) gene demethylates di- and tri-methylated lysine 4 of histone H3 (H3K4me2/3) and is involved in gene regulation (Bellott et al, 2014; Barski et al, 2007; Heintzman et al, 2007). Therefore, *Kdm5d* is a good candidate that could be influencing DNA methylation. To test the impact of loss of function of *Kdm5d* on methylation, we analyzed methylation of reporter yDMRs in livers and spleens of *Kdm5d* mutant mice.

If *Kdm5d* was Y-linked gene responsible for Y-dependent methylation, we would observe significantly different levels of DNA methylation between *Kdm5d* knock-out (KO) and wild type (WT) male mice. However, at all four validated yDMRs, we observed similar levels of DNA methylation between WT and *Kdm5d* KO male mice both in liver and spleen (**Fig 3.5 a-b**). We also determined that the WT mice (ICR strain) have similar levels of DNA methylation as the mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome at the four yDMRs, consistent with the result obtained by Aldinger and colleagues, who established that ICR mice carry the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome (**Fig S3**) (Aldinger et al, 2009).

Our results suggest that 1) *Kdm5d* is not inactive on the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome and 2) *Kdm5d* is unlikely to be the Y-linked gene that influences autosomal DNA methylation.



Fig 3.5. *Kdm5d* does not influence yDMR methylation.

(**a-b**). Methylation levels in livers and spleens of mice carrying a mutation in the *Kdm5d*. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis represents the four validated yDMRs. Each point represents one DNA sample (n=3-4). Error bars represent standard deviation. ns-not significant. Blue rectangles represent WT male mice and empty black rectangles represent *Kdm5d* KO male mice.

Chapter 4:

Discussion

In this study, we wanted to determine whether the presence of the Y chromosome influenced autosomal DNA methylation, and hence the role of the Y chromosome in sex-biased DNA methylation, by using mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement (XX.FT, XY.MT, sex-reversed XY.FT, XX^{*Paf*}.F, and XO.F mice). Further, we wanted to find out whether yDMRs were tissue-specific by examining different mouse organs from the same mice. We also wanted to know whether different origins of the mouse Y chromosome had an effect on DNA methylation by studying different mouse strains.

We showed that most yDMRs were not tissue-specific in that they were present in all the tested organs in this study. We also established that *Mus musculus musculus and Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosomes influenced DNA methylation differently, and *Kdm5d* was unlikely to be the Y-linked gene that influences autosomal DNA methylation.

4.1. The influence of the Y-chromosome on DNA methylation

Our lab, in collaboration with Dr. Taketo's and Dr. Bourque's labs (McGill University, QC, Canada), recently conducted whole genome bisulfite sequencing methylation analysis (WGBS) using livers and brains of adult mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sexchromosome complement (Zhuang et al, 2020). We determined that sex-phenotype, Xchromosome dosage, and the presence of the Y chromosome all resulted in differentially methylated regions (DMRs) (Zhuang et al, 2020). Through the analysis of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs (yDMRs), our lab established that mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome had lower levels of DNA methylation at certain autosomal regions compared to mice carrying the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome (Zhuang et al, 2020). In the present study, we determined that yDMRs can be both hyper- and hypo-methylated and most of the yDMRs were located on repeat elements both in mouse liver and brain (**Fig 3.1; Tables S1 and S2**). It suggested that the distribution of yDMRs in the mouse genome was not random. Furthermore, we established that mice carrying the Y chromosome, independent of gonadal sex, had significantly different yDMR methylation levels compared to XX and XO mice, indicating that the presence of the Y chromosome contributes to sex-biased DNA methylation (**Fig 3.2**). DNA methylation regulates both the expression and transposition of certain repetitive elements in the genome, thus contributing to genomic stability. Our results, therefore, suggest that the presence of the Y chromosome may play a role in the regulation of transposons throughout the genome and hence genomic stability. It was demonstrated that loss of the Y chromosome was associated with hepatocellular carcinoma in humans (Park et al, 2006).

4.2. yDMRs are not tissue-specific

Since the validation of our reporter yDMRs was done in liver of adult mice with different combinations of gonadal sex and sex-chromosome complement, we wanted to study whether yDMRs were tissue-specific by analyzing different organs, such as spleen, heart, lung, brain, and tails, collected from the same mice. In addition, testes were collected from XY.MT mice. We established that yDMRs were mostly not tissue-specific in the sense that they were present in all the tested organs (**Fig 3.3**). However, we observed similarly high DNA methylation at *Chr2_CG1* yDMR in the spleens of XX.FT, XY.MT, and sex-reversed XY.FT mice (**Fig 3.3** d). Testes had different DNA methylation levels compared to the other organs of XY.MT mice at *Ch6qA* and *Chr2_CG1* yDMRs (**Fig 3.3 b** and **d**). This could be explained by methylation reprogramming that occurs in the germ line where somatic methylation patterns are erased so that sex-specific

methylation patterns can be established (reviewed in (Zeng & Chen, 2019; Seisenberger et al, 2013)). Overall, our results suggest that the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation is expressed in all the tested organs and/or yDMRs arise early in development, i.e., before the separation of germ layers.

4.3. Different origins of the Y chromosome

Our lab previously determined that it was the male mice carrying a variant of *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome on the C57BL/6J genetic background (B6.Y^{TIR}), not C57BL/6J male mice carrying the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome, had lower levels of DNA methylation at certain sDMRs (Zhuang et al, 2020). We, therefore, analyzed yDMR methylation in different strains of mice carrying either the *Mus musculus musculus* Y chromosome or the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome. Our results showed that mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome. Our results showed that mice carrying the *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosome had different levels of DNA methylation compared to mice carrying the *Mus musculus musculus musculus* Y chromosome at *Caprin1*, *Ch2qH1_2*, and *Chr2_CG1* yDMRs (**Fig 3.4 a** and **c-d**). However, *Ch6qA* yDMR was specific to B6.Y^{TIR} mice in that only B6.Y^{TIR} mice had lower levels of DNA methylation (**Fig 3.4 b**). In brief, our results suggest that genetic background and the origin of the Y chromosome influence DNA methylation and hence genetic variants in the Y chromosome must be involved.

4.4. Impact of Y-linked gene candidates on autosomal DNA methylation

Since our results suggested the possibility of yDMRs arising early in development or ubiquitous expression of the Y-linked genes responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation, we wanted to analyze Y-linked gene candidates that have the following characteristics – 1) expressed early in embryonic development or 2) expressed ubiquitously in adults; and 3) contain non-synonymous coding polymorphism between *Mus musculus musculus* and *Mus musculus domesticus* Y chromosomes. Y-linked gene candidates of our study were mentioned in 1.3.2 section and **Table 3.2**. *Kdm5d* was one of the Y-linked gene candidates that fulfilled our criteria (Agulnik et al, 1994). We analyzed DNA methylation in livers and spleens of WT and *Kdm5d* KO mice at our reporter yDMRs and we expected to observe different levels of DNA methylation between the two groups of mice if *Kdm5d* had an influence on autosomal DNA methylation. However, we did not observe DNA methylation difference between WT and *Kdm5d* KO mice (**Fig 3.5**). Our results suggested that *Kdm5d* was unlikely to be having an impact on DNA methylation levels and hence this gene is unlikely to be one of the Y-linked genes responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation.

Chapter 5:

Final conclusions and future directions

Based on our observations and results, the conclusions of this study are as follows:

- 1. YDMRs are present mostly on transposable elements
- 2. YDMRs are not limited to the liver and observed in other organs. This suggests that they either arise early in development and/or the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for influencing autosomal DNA methylation is expressed ubiquitously throughout the body of the mouse
- Genetic background and the origin of the Y chromosome influence DNA methylation of yDMRs
- 4. *Kdm5d* is unlikely to be the Y-linked gene responsible for yDMRs

In the future, to identify the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for sexual dimorphism in DNA methylation, genome-wide DNA methylation levels should be analyzed in mice with mutations in Y-linked gene candidates.

Reference list

- Agulnik AI, Mitchell MJ, Lerner JL, Woods DR, Bishop CE. A mouse Y chromosome gene encoded by a region essential for spermatogenesis and expression of male-specific minor histocompatibility antigens. Hum Mol Genet. 1994;3(6):873-8. Epub 1994/06/01. Doi: 10.1093/hmg/3.6.873. PubMed PMID: 7524912.
- Alaskhar Alhamwe B, Khalaila R, Wolf J, von Bülow V, Harb H, Alhamdan F, et al. Histone modifications and their role in epigenetics of atopy and allergic diseases. Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology. 2018;14(1):39. Doi: 10.1186/s13223-018-0259-4.
- Aldinger KA, Sokoloff G, Rosenberg DM, Palmer AA, Millen KJ. Genetic variation and population substructure in outbred CD-1 mice: implications for genome-wide association studies. PloS One. 2009;4(3):e4729. Epub 2009/03/07. Doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004729. PubMed PMID: 19266100; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2649211.
- AlOgayil N, Bauermeister K, Galvez JH, Venkatesh VS, Zhuang QK-w, Chang ML, et al. Distinct roles of androgen receptor, estrogen receptor alpha, and BCL6 in the establishment of sexbiased DNA methylation in mouse liver. Scientific Reports. 2021;11(1):13766. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-93216-6.
- Alzu'bi AA, Zhou L, Watzlaf VJM. Genetic Variations and Precision Medicine. Perspect Health Inf Manag. 2019;16(Spring):1a. Epub 2019/04/26. PubMed PMID: 31019429; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6462879.

- Ambrosi C, Manzo M, Baubec T. Dynamics and Context-Dependent Roles of DNA Methylation.
 Journal of Molecular Biology. 2017;429(10):1459-75. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2017.02.008.
- Anastasiadi D, Esteve-Codina A, Piferrer F. Consistent inverse correlation between DNA methylation of the first intron and gene expression across tissues and species. Epigenetics & Chromatin. 2018;11(1):37. doi: 10.1186/s13072-018-0205-1.
- Arnold AP. A general theory of sexual differentiation. J Neurosci Res. 2017;95(1-2):291-300. Epub 2016/11/22. Doi: 10.1002/jnr.23884. PubMed PMID: 27870435; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5369239.
- Arnold AP. The mouse as a model of fundamental concepts related to Turner syndrome. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet. 2019;181(1):76-85. Epub 2019/02/19. Doi: 10.1002/ajmg.c.31681. PubMed PMID: 30779420.
- Augui S, Nora EP, Heard E. Regulation of X-chromosome inactivation by the X-inactivation centre. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2011;12(6):429-42. Doi: 10.1038/nrg2987.
- Avner P, Heard E. X-chromosome inactivation: counting, choice and initiation. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2001;2(1):59-67. doi: 10.1038/35047580.

Bagatell CJ, Bremner WJ. Androgens in health and disease. Totowa, N.J.: Humana Press; 2003.

Bailey SF, Alonso Morales LA, Kassen R. Effects of Synonymous Mutations beyond Codon Bias:
The Evidence for Adaptive Synonymous Substitutions from Microbial Evolution
Experiments. Genome Biology and Evolution. 2021;13(9). Doi: 10.1093/gbe/evab141.

- Balaton BP, Brown CJ. Escape Artists of the X Chromosome. Trends Genet. 2016;32(6):348-59. Epub 2016/04/23. Doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2016.03.007. PubMed PMID: 27103486.
- Barau J, Teissandier A, Zamudio N, Roy S, Nalesso V, Hérault Y, et al. The DNA methyltransferase DNMT3C protects male germ cells from transposon activity. Science. 2016;354(6314):909-12. Epub 2016/11/20. Doi: 10.1126/science.aah5143. PubMed PMID: 27856912.
- Barrionuevo F, Bagheri-Fam S, Klattig Jr, Kist R, Taketo MM, Englert C, et al. Homozygous Inactivation of Sox9 Causes Complete XY Sex Reversal in Mice1. Biology of Reproduction. 2006;74(1):195-201. Doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.105.045930.
- Barrionuevo F, Burgos M, Jiménez R. Origin and function of embryonic Sertoli cells. Biomol Concepts. 2011;2(6):537-47. Epub 2011/12/01. Doi: 10.1515/bmc.2011.044. PubMed PMID: 25962053.
- Barski A, Cuddapah S, Cui K, Roh T-Y, Schones DE, Wang Z, et al. High-Resolution Profiling of Histone Methylations in the Human Genome. Cell. 2007;129(4):823-37. Doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.009.
- Bayraktar G, Kreutz MR. The Role of Activity-Dependent DNA Demethylation in the Adult Brain and in Neurological Disorders. Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience. 2018;11. Doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00169.
- Bellott DW, Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Pyntikova T, Cho T-J, et al. Mammalian Y chromosomes retain widely expressed dosage-sensitive regulators. Nature. 2014;508(7497):494-9. Doi: 10.1038/nature13206. PubMed PMID: 24759411.

68

- Bergstrom DE, Grieco DA, Sonti MM, Fawcett JJ, Bell-Prince C, Cram LS, et al. The Mouse Y Chromosome: Enrichment, Sizing, and Cloning by Bivariate Flow Cytometry. Genomics. 1998;48(3):304-13. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1997.5176.
- Berletch JB, Yang F, Disteche CM. Escape from X inactivation in mice and humans. Genome Biology. 2010;11(6):213. Doi: 10.1186/gb-2010-11-6-213.
- Berletch JB, Yang F, Xu J, Carrel L, Disteche CM. Genes that escape from X inactivation. Hum Genet. 2011;130(2):237-45. Epub 2011/05/26. Doi: 10.1007/s00439-011-1011-z. PubMed PMID: 21614513.
- Berletch JB, Ma W, Yang F, Shendure J, Noble WS, Disteche CM, et al. Escape from X inactivation varies in mouse tissues. PloS Genet. 2015;11(3):e1005079. Epub 2015/03/19.
 Doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005079. PubMed PMID: 25785854; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4364777.
- Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES. The mammalian epigenome. Cell. 2007;128(4):669-81. Epub 2007/02/27. Doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.033. PubMed PMID: 17320505.
- Bishop CE, Boursot P, Baron B, Bonhomme F, Hatat D. Most classical Mus musculus domesticus laboratory mouse strains carry a Mus musculus musculus Y chromosome. Nature. 1985;315(6014):70-2. Epub 1985/05/02. Doi: 10.1038/315070a0. PubMed PMID: 2986012.
- Bohnsack JP, Pandey SC. Chapter One Histone modifications, DNA methylation, and the epigenetic code of alcohol use disorder. In: Pandey SC, editor. International Review of Neurobiology. 156: Academic Press; 2021. P. 1-62.

- Bourque G, Burns KH, Gehring M, Gorbunova V, Seluanov A, Hammell M, et al. Ten things you should know about transposable elements. Genome Biology. 2018;19(1):199. Doi: 10.1186/s13059-018-1577-z.
- Brown GM, Furlong RA, Sargent CA, Erickson RP, Longepied G, Mitchell M, et al. Characterisation of the coding sequence and fine mapping of the human DFFRY gene and comparative expression analysis and mapping to the Sxrb interval of the mouse Y chromosome of the Dffry gene. Human Molecular Genetics. 1998;7(1):97-107. Doi: 10.1093/hmg/7.1.97.
- Buehr M, Gu S, McLaren A. Mesonephric contribution to testis differentiation in the fetal mouse.Development. 1993;117(1):273-81. Epub 1993/01/01. Doi: 10.1242/dev.117.1.273.PubMed PMID: 8223251.
- Burgoyne PS, Evans EP. A high frequency of XO offspring from X^{*Paf*} Y* male mice: evidence that the *Paf* mutation involves an inversion spanning the X PAR boundary. Cytogenetic and Genome Research. 2000;91(1-4):57-61. Doi: 10.1159/000056819.
- Cameron FJ, Sinclair AH. Mutations in SRY and SOX9: testis-determining genes. Hum Mutat. 1997;9(5):388-95. Epub 1997/01/01. Doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-1004(1997)9:5<388::Aid-humu2>3.0.Co;2-0. PubMed PMID: 9143916.
- Capel B. Vertebrate sex determination: evolutionary plasticity of a fundamental switch. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2017;18(11):675-89. Doi: 10.1038/nrg.2017.60.

- Cardoso JGR, Andersen MR, Herrgård MJ, Sonnenschein N. Analysis of Genetic Variation and Potential Applications in Genome-Scale Metabolic Modeling. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2015;3. Doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00013.
- Carrel L, Willard HF. X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. Nature. 2005;434(7031):400-4. Doi: 10.1038/nature03479.
- Cartegni L, Chew SL, Krainer AR. Listening to silence and understanding nonsense: exonic mutations that affect splicing. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2002;3(4):285-98. Doi: 10.1038/nrg775.
- Casciello F, Windloch K, Gannon F, Lee JS. Functional Role of G9a Histone Methyltransferase in Cancer. Frontiers in Immunology. 2015;6. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00487.
- Case LK, Toussaint L, Moussawi M, Roberts B, Saligrama N, Brossay L, et al. Chromosome y regulates survival following murine coxsackievirus b3 infection. G3 (Bethesda).
 2012;2(1):115-21. Epub 2012/03/03. Doi: 10.1534/g3.111.001610. PubMed PMID: 22384388; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3276194.
- Case LK, Wall EH, Dragon JA, Saligrama N, Krementsov DN, Moussawi M, et al. The Y chromosome as a regulatory element shaping immune cell transcriptomes and susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Genome Res. 2013;23(9):1474-85. Epub 2013/06/27. Doi: 10.1101/gr.156703.113. PubMed PMID: 23800453; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3759723.

- Cedar H, Bergman Y. Linking DNA methylation and histone modification: patterns and paradigms. Nat Rev Genet. 2009;10(5):295-304. Epub 2009/03/25. Doi: 10.1038/nrg2540.
 PubMed PMID: 19308066.
- Chaboissier MC, Kobayashi A, Vidal VI, Lützkendorf S, van de Kant HJ, Wegner M, et al.
 Functional analysis of Sox8 and Sox9 during sex determination in the mouse.
 Development. 2004;131(9):1891-901. Epub 2004/04/02. Doi: 10.1242/dev.01087.
 PubMed PMID: 15056615.
- Chédin F. Chapter 7 The DNMT3 Family of Mammalian De Novo DNA Methyltransferases. In: Cheng X, Blumenthal RM, editors. Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science. 101: Academic Press; 2011. P. 255-85.
- Chen C, Gong X, Yang X, Shang X, Du Q, Liao Q, et al. The roles of estrogen and estrogen receptors in gastrointestinal disease (Review). Oncol Lett. 2019;18(6):5673-80. Doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10983.
- Chénais B. Transposable Elements and Human Diseases: Mechanisms and Implication in the Response to Environmental Pollutants. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2022;23(5):2551. PubMed PMID: doi:10.3390/ijms23052551.
- Choudhuri S. Chapter 2 Fundamentals of Molecular Evolution**The opinions expressed in this chapter are the author's own and they do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the FDA, the DHHS, or the Federal Government. In: Choudhuri S, editor. Bioinformatics for Beginners. Oxford: Academic Press; 2014. P. 27-53.
- Chuong EB, Elde NC, Feschotte C. Regulatory activities of transposable elements: from conflicts to benefits. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2017;18(2):71-86. Doi: 10.1038/nrg.2016.139.
- Clemson CM, McNeil JA, Willard HF, Lawrence JB. XIST RNA paints the inactive X chromosome at interphase: evidence for a novel RNA involved in nuclear/chromosome structure. J Cell Biol. 1996;132(3):259-75. Doi: 10.1083/jcb.132.3.259. PubMed PMID: 8636206.
- Cooper GS, Stroehla BC. The epidemiology of autoimmune diseases. Autoimmunity Reviews. 2003;2(3):119-25. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1568-9972(03)00006-5.
- Coward P, Nagai K, Chen D, Thomas HD, Nagamine CM, Chris Lau Y-F. Polymorphism of a CAG trinucleotide repeat within Sry correlates with B6.Ydom sex reversal. Nature Genetics. 1994;6(3):245-50. Doi: 10.1038/ng0394-245.
- Cui J, Shen Y, Li R. Estrogen synthesis and signaling pathways during aging: from periphery to brain. Trends Mol Med. 2013;19(3):197-209. Epub 2013/01/26. Doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.12.007. PubMed PMID: 23348042; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3595330.
- Davey RA, Grossmann M. Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. Clin Biochem Rev. 2016;37(1):3-15. PubMed PMID: 27057074.
- Deng X, Berletch JB, Nguyen DK, Disteche CM. X chromosome regulation: diverse patterns in development, tissues and disease. Nat Rev Genet. 2014;15(6):367-78. Epub 2014/04/15.
 Doi: 10.1038/nrg3687. PubMed PMID: 24733023.

- Deroo BJ, Korach KS. Estrogen receptors and human disease. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(3):561-70. Epub 2006/03/03. Doi: 10.1172/jci27987. PubMed PMID: 16511588; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2373424.
- Disteche CM, Filippova GN, Tsuchiya KD. Escape from X inactivation. Cytogenet Genome Res. 2002;99(1-4):36-43. Epub 2003/08/06. Doi: 10.1159/000071572. PubMed PMID: 12900543.
- Disteche CM. Dosage compensation of the sex chromosomes. Annu Rev Genet. 2012;46:537-60.
 Epub 2012/09/15. Doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155454. PubMed PMID: 22974302; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3767307.
- Disteche CM, Berletch JB. X-chromosome inactivation and escape. J Genet. 2015;94(4):591-9. Doi: 10.1007/s12041-015-0574-1. PubMed PMID: 26690513.
- Dong Q, Hardy MP. Leydig Cell Function in Man. In: Winters SJ, editor. Male Hypogonadism: Basic, Clinical, and Therapeutic Principles. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2004. P. 23-43.
- Douarin NM. An experimental analysis of liver development. Med Biol. 1975;53(6):427-55. Epub 1975/12/01. PubMed PMID: 765644.
- Ecco G, Imbeault M, Trono D. KRAB zinc finger proteins. Development (Cambridge, England). 2017;144(15):2719-29. doi: 10.1242/dev.132605.
- Eggers S, Sinclair A. Mammalian sex determination—insights from humans and mice. Chromosome Research. 2012;20(1):215-38. Doi: 10.1007/s10577-012-9274-3.

- Ellegren H, Parsch J. The evolution of sex-biased genes and sex-biased gene expression. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2007;8(9):689-98. doi: 10.1038/nrg2167.
- El-Maarri O, Walier M, Behne F, van Üüm J, Singer H, Diaz-Lacava A, et al. Methylation at global LINE-1 repeats in human blood are affected by gender but not by age or natural hormone cycles. PLoS One. 2011;6(1):e16252. Epub 2011/02/12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016252. PubMed PMID: 21311577; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3023801.
- Engel N. Sex Differences in Early Embryogenesis: Inter-Chromosomal Regulation Sets the Stage for Sex-Biased Gene Networks: The dialogue between the sex chromosomes and autosomes imposes sexual identity soon after fertilization. Bioessays. 2018;40(9):e1800073. Epub 2018/06/27. Doi: 10.1002/bies.201800073. PubMed PMID: 29943439.
- Esteller M. Epigenetics in Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2008;358(11):1148-59. Doi: 10.1056/NEJMra072067. PubMed PMID: 18337604.
- Fang H, Disteche CM, Berletch JB. X Inactivation and Escape: Epigenetic and Structural Features.
 Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2019;7(219). Doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00219.
- Frayer DW, Wolpoff MH. Sexual Dimorphism. Annual Review of Anthropology. 1985;14:429-73.
- Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Deplus R, Kouzarides T. The DNA methyltransferases associate with HP1 and the SUV39H1 histone methyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31(9):2305-12. Epub

2003/04/25. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg332. PubMed PMID: 12711675; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC154218.

- Galupa R, Heard E. X-Chromosome Inactivation: A Crossroads Between Chromosome Architecture and Gene Regulation. Annual Review of Genetics. 2018;52(1):535-66. Doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-120116-024611. PubMed PMID: 30256677.
- García-Calzón S, Perfilyev A, de Mello VD, Pihlajamäki J, Ling C. Sex Differences in the Methylome and Transcriptome of the Human Liver and Circulating HDL-Cholesterol Levels. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2018;103(12):4395-408. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00423.
- Gibney ER, Nolan CM. Epigenetics and gene expression. Heredity. 2010;105(1):4-13. Doi: 10.1038/hdy.2010.54.
- Goerner-Potvin P, Bourque G. Computational tools to unmask transposable elements. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2018;19(11):688-704. Doi: 10.1038/s41576-018-0050-x.
- Gowher H, Liebert K, Hermann A, Xu G, Jeltsch A. Mechanism of stimulation of catalytic activity of Dnmt3A and Dnmt3B DNA-(cytosine-C5)-methyltransferases by Dnmt3L. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(14):13341-8. Epub 2005/01/27. Doi: 10.1074/jbc.M413412200. PubMed PMID: 15671018.
- Grafodatskaya D, Chung BH, Butcher DT, Turinsky AL, Goodman SJ, Choufani S, et al.
 Multilocus loss of DNA methylation in individuals with mutations in the histone H3 lysine
 4 demethylase KDM5C. BMC Med Genomics. 2013;6:1. Epub 2013/01/30. Doi:

10.1186/1755-8794-6-1. PubMed PMID: 23356856; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3573947.

- Grant OA, Wang Y, Kumari M, Zabet NR, Schalkwyk L. Characterising sex differences of autosomal DNA methylation in whole blood using the Illumina EPIC array. Clinical Epigenetics. 2022;14(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s13148-022-01279-7.
- Grath S, Parsch J. Sex-Biased Gene Expression. Annu Rev Genet. 2016;50:29-44. Epub 2016/08/31. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-120215-035429. PubMed PMID: 27574843.
- Greenberg MVC, Bourc'his D. The diverse roles of DNA methylation in mammalian development and disease. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2019;20(10):590-607. Doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0159-6.
- Greenfield A, Scott D, Pennisi D, Ehrmann I, Ellis P, Cooper L, et al. An H-Ydb epitope is encoded by a novel mouse Y chromosome gene. Nat Genet. 1996;14(4):474-8. Epub 1996/12/01. Doi: 10.1038/ng1296-474. PubMed PMID: 8944031.
- Greenfield A. Understanding sex determination in the mouse: genetics, epigenetics and the story of mutual antagonisms. J Genet. 2015;94(4):585-90. Doi: 10.1007/s12041-015-0565-2.
- Grimm SA, Shimbo T, Takaku M, Thomas JW, Auerbach S, Bennett BD, et al. DNA methylation in mice is influenced by genetics as well as sex and life experience. Nature Communications. 2019;10(1):305. Doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-08067-z.

- Gruber CJ, Tschugguel W, Schneeberger C, Huber JC. Production and actions of estrogens. NEngl J Med. 2002;346(5):340-52. Epub 2002/02/01. Doi: 10.1056/NEJMra000471.PubMed PMID: 11821512.
- Grundy EE, Diab N, Chiappinelli KB. Transposable element regulation and expression in cancer. Febs j. 2022;289(5):1160-79. Epub 2021/01/21. Doi: 10.1111/febs.15722. PubMed PMID: 33471418.
- GrÜNeberg H. A Ventral Ectodermal Ridge of the Tail in Mouse Embryos. Nature. 1956;177(4513):787-8. Doi: 10.1038/177787b0.
- Gubbay J, Collignon J, Koopman P, Capel B, Economou A, Münsterberg A, et al. A gene mapping to the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome is a member of a novel family of embryonically expressed genes. Nature. 1990;346(6281):245-50. Doi: 10.1038/346245a0.
- Hall JM, Couse JF, Korach KS. The multifaceted mechanisms of estradiol and estrogen receptor signaling. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(40):36869-72. Epub 2001/07/19. Doi: 10.1074/jbc.R100029200. PubMed PMID: 11459850.
- Harley VR, Jackson DI, Hextall PJ, Hawkins JR, Berkovitz GD, Sockanathan S, et al. DNA binding activity of recombinant SRY from normal males and XY females. Science. 1992;255(5043):453-6. Epub 1992/01/24. Doi: 10.1126/science.1734522. PubMed PMID: 1734522.

- Harmeyer KM, Facompre ND, Herlyn M, Basu D. JARID1 Histone Demethylases: Emerging Targets in Cancer. Trends Cancer. 2017;3(10):713-25. Epub 2017/09/12. Doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.08.004. PubMed PMID: 28958389.
- He YF, Li BZ, Li Z, Liu P, Wang Y, Tang Q, et al. Tet-mediated formation of 5-carboxylcytosine and its excision by TDG in mammalian DNA. Science. 2011;333(6047):1303-7. Epub 2011/08/06. doi: 10.1126/science.1210944. PubMed PMID: 21817016; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3462231.
- Heard E, Disteche CM. Dosage compensation in mammals: fine-tuning the expression of the X chromosome. Genes Dev. 2006;20(14):1848-67. Epub 2006/07/19. Doi: 10.1101/gad.1422906. PubMed PMID: 16847345.
- Heintzman ND, Stuart RK, Hon G, Fu Y, Ching CW, Hawkins RD, et al. Distinct and predictive chromatin signatures of transcriptional promoters and enhancers in the human genome. Nature Genetics. 2007;39(3):311-8. Doi: 10.1038/ng1966.
- Ho B, Greenlaw K, Al Tuwaijri A, Moussette S, Martínez F, Giorgio E, et al. X chromosome dosage and presence of SRY shape sex-specific differences in DNA methylation at an autosomal region in human cells. Biol Sex Differ. 2018;9(1):10. doi: 10.1186/s13293-018-0169-7.
- Hou H, Yu H. Structural insights into histone lysine demethylation. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2010;20(6):739-48. Epub 2010/10/26. Doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2010.09.006. PubMed PMID: 20970991; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3010374.

- Hu J, Askary AM, Thurman TJ, Spiller DA, Palmer TM, Pringle RM, et al. The Epigenetic Signature of Colonizing New Environments in Anolis Lizards. Molecular Biology and Evolution. 2019;36(10):2165-70. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msz133.
- Huang K, Fan G. DNA methylation in cell differentiation and reprogramming: an emerging systematic view. Regen Med. 2010;5(4):531-44. Epub 2010/07/17. Doi: 10.2217/rme.10.35. PubMed PMID: 20632857.
- Ingleby FC, Flis I, Morrow EH. Sex-biased gene expression and sexual conflict throughout development. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2014;7(1):a017632. Epub 2014/11/08. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a017632. PubMed PMID: 25376837; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4292171.
- Ito S, Shen L, Dai Q, Wu SC, Collins LB, Swenberg JA, et al. Tet proteins can convert 5methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. Science. 2011;333(6047):1300-3. Epub 2011/07/23. doi: 10.1126/science.1210597. PubMed PMID: 21778364; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3495246.
- Jaenisch R, Bird A. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. Nature Genetics. 2003;33(3):245-54. doi: 10.1038/ng1089.
- Jansz N. DNA methylation dynamics at transposable elements in mammals. Essays Biochem. 2019;63(6):677-89. Epub 2019/10/28. doi: 10.1042/ebc20190039. PubMed PMID: 31654072.

- Jin B, Li Y, Robertson KD. DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy?
 Genes Cancer. 2011;2(6):607-17. Epub 2011/09/24. doi: 10.1177/1947601910393957.
 PubMed PMID: 21941617; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3174260.
- Jordan CL, Doncarlos L. Androgens in health and disease: an overview. Horm Behav. 2008;53(5):589-95. Epub 2008/04/15. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.02.016. PubMed PMID: 18407273; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2676684.
- Kaminsky Z, Wang SC, Petronis A. Complex disease, gender and epigenetics. Ann Med. 2006;38(8):530-44. Epub 2007/04/19. doi: 10.1080/07853890600989211. PubMed PMID: 17438668.
- Karn Mn, Penrose Ls. Birth Weight And Gestation Time In Relation To Maternal Age, Parity And Infant Survival. Annals of Eugenics. 1951;16(1):147-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1809.1951.tb02469.x.
- Kashimada K, Koopman P. Sry: the master switch in mammalian sex determination. Development. 2010;137(23):3921-30. Epub 2010/11/11. doi: 10.1242/dev.048983. PubMed PMID: 21062860.
- Kay GF, Penny GD, Patel D, Ashworth A, Brockdorff N, Rastan S. Expression of Xist during mouse development suggests a role in the initiation of X chromosome inactivation. Cell. 1993;72(2):171-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90658-D.
- Kent J, Wheatley SC, Andrews JE, Sinclair AH, Koopman P. A male-specific role for SOX9 in vertebrate sex determination. Development. 1996;122(9):2813-22. doi: 10.1242/dev.122.9.2813.

81

- Kiyama R, Wada-Kiyama Y. Estrogenic endocrine disruptors: Molecular mechanisms of action. Environ Int. 2015;83:11-40. Epub 2015/06/16. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.05.012. PubMed PMID: 26073844.
- Klein SL. Hormonal and immunological mechanisms mediating sex differences in parasite infection. Parasite Immunology. 2004;26(6-7):247-64. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0141-9838.2004.00710.x.
- Kohli RM, Zhang Y. TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. Nature.
 2013;502(7472):472-9. Epub 2013/10/25. doi: 10.1038/nature12750. PubMed PMID: 24153300; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4046508.
- Koopman P, Münsterberg A, Capel B, Vivian N, Lovell-Badge R. Expression of a candidate sexdetermining gene during mouse testis differentiation. Nature. 1990;348(6300):450-2. doi: 10.1038/348450a0.
- Koopman P, Gubbay J, Vivian N, Goodfellow P, Lovell-Badge R. Male development of chromosomally female mice transgenic for Sry. Nature. 1991;351(6322):117-21. doi: 10.1038/351117a0.
- Koopman P, Ashworth A, Lovell-Badge R. The ZFY gene family in humans and mice. Trends in Genetics. 1991;7(4):132-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9525(91)90458-3.
- Kosugi M, Otani M, Kikkawa Y, Itakura Y, Sakai K, Ito T, et al. Mutations of histone demethylase genes encoded by X and Y chromosomes, Kdm5c and Kdm5d, lead to noncompaction cardiomyopathy in mice. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2020;525(1):100-6. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.02.043.

- Krementsov DN, Case LK, Dienz O, Raza A, Fang Q, Ather JL, et al. Genetic variation in chromosome Y regulates susceptibility to influenza A virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(13):3491-6. Epub 2017/03/01. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1620889114. PubMed PMID: 28242695; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5380050.
- Kwekel JC, Desai VG, Moland CL, Branham WS, Fuscoe JC. Age and sex dependent changes in liver gene expression during the life cycle of the rat. BMC Genomics. 2010;11(1):675. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-675.
- Lahn BT, Page DC. Functional coherence of the human Y chromosome. Science. 1997;278(5338):675-80. Epub 1997/10/24. doi: 10.1126/science.278.5338.675. PubMed PMID: 9381176.
- Laing LV, Viana J, Dempster EL, Uren Webster TM, van Aerle R, Mill J, et al. Sex-specific transcription and DNA methylation profiles of reproductive and epigenetic associated genes in the gonads and livers of breeding zebrafish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology. 2018;222:16-25. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2018.04.004.
- Lane PW, Davisson MT. Patchy Fur (Paf), a Semidominant X-Linked Gene Associated with a High Level of X-Y Nondisjunction in Male Mice. Journal of Heredity. 1990;81(1):43-50. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a110923.
- Lees-Murdock DJ, McLoughlin GA, McDaid JR, Quinn LM, O'Doherty A, Hiripi L, et al. Identification of 11 pseudogenes in the DNA methyltransferase gene family in rodents and

humans and implications for the functional loci. Genomics. 2004;84(1):193-204. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2004.02.004.

- Lei H, Oh SP, Okano M, Juttermann R, Goss KA, Jaenisch R, et al. De novo DNA cytosine methyltransferase activities in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development. 1996;122(10):3195-205. doi: 10.1242/dev.122.10.3195.
- Lenz KM, McCarthy MM. Organized for sex steroid hormones and the developing hypothalamus. Eur J Neurosci. 2010;32(12):2096-104. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07511.x. PubMed PMID: 21143664.
- Leung K-C, Johannsson G, Leong GM, Ho KKY. Estrogen Regulation of Growth Hormone Action. Endocrine Reviews. 2004;25(5):693-721. doi: 10.1210/er.2003-0035.
- Li Y, Chen X, Lu C. The interplay between DNA and histone methylation: molecular mechanisms and disease implications. EMBO Rep. 2021;22(5):e51803. Epub 2021/04/13. doi: 10.15252/embr.202051803. PubMed PMID: 33844406; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC8097341.
- Liu X, Gao Q, Li P, Zhao Q, Zhang J, Li J, et al. UHRF1 targets DNMT1 for DNA methylation through cooperative binding of hemi-methylated DNA and methylated H3K9. Nature Communications. 2013;4(1):1563. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2562.
- Lovell-Badge R. Sex determining gene expression during embryogenesis. Philos Trans R SocLond B Biol Sci. 1993;339(1288):159-64. Epub 1993/02/27. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1993.0012.PubMed PMID: 8097047.

- Lu Z, Carter AC, Chang HY. Mechanistic insights in X-chromosome inactivation. Philos Trans R
 Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2017;372(1733). Epub 2017/09/28. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0356.
 PubMed PMID: 28947655; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5627158.
- Luetjens CM, Weinbauer GF. Testosterone: biosynthesis, transport, metabolism and (nongenomic) actions. In: Nieschlag E, Behre HM, editors. Testosterone: Action, Deficiency, Substitution. 4 ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2012. p. 15-32.
- Lyko F. The DNA methyltransferase family: a versatile toolkit for epigenetic regulation. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2018;19(2):81-92. doi: 10.1038/nrg.2017.80.
- Lyon MF. Gene Action in the X-chromosome of the Mouse (Mus musculus L.). Nature. 1961;190(4773):372-3. doi: 10.1038/190372a0.
- Mak W, Nesterova TB, de Napoles M, Appanah R, Yamanaka S, Otte AP, et al. Reactivation of the paternal X chromosome in early mouse embryos. Science. 2004;303(5658):666-9.
 Epub 2004/01/31. doi: 10.1126/science.1092674. PubMed PMID: 14752160.
- Mäkelä J-A, Koskenniemi JJ, Virtanen HE, Toppari J. Testis Development. Endocrine Reviews. 2018;40(4):857-905. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00140.
- Marchetti PM, Barth JH. Clinical biochemistry of dihydrotestosterone. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry. 2013;50(2):95-107. doi: 10.1258/acb.2012.012159. PubMed PMID: 23431485.

- Mardon G, Page DC. The sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome encodes a protein with a highly acidic domain and 13 zinc fingers. Cell. 1989;56(5):765-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(89)90680-6.
- Mardon G, Mosher R, Disteche CM, Nishioka Y, McLaren A, Page DC. Duplication, deletion, and polymorphism in the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome. Science. 1989;243(4887):78-80. Epub 1989/01/06. doi: 10.1126/science.2563173. PubMed PMID: 2563173.
- Matthews BJ, Melia T, Waxman DJ. Harnessing natural variation to identify cis regulators of sexbiased gene expression in a multi-strain mouse liver model. PLoS Genet. 2021;17(11):e1009588. Epub 2021/11/10. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1009588. PubMed PMID: 34752452; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC8664386.
- McCarthy MM. The two faces of estradiol: effects on the developing brain. Neuroscientist. 2009;15(6):599-610. Epub 2009/08/25. doi: 10.1177/1073858409340924. PubMed PMID: 19700741; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2795061.
- McClelland EE, Smith JM. Gender specific differences in the immune response to infection. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2011;59(3):203-13. Epub 2011/03/29. doi: 10.1007/s00005-011-0124-3. PubMed PMID: 21442309.
- McCombe PA, Greer JM. Chapter 24 Sexual Dimorphism in the Immune System. In: Rose NR, Mackay IR, editors. The Autoimmune Diseases (Fifth Edition). Boston: Academic Press; 2014. p. 319-28.

- McCormick H, Young PE, Hur SSJ, Booher K, Chung H, Cropley JE, et al. Isogenic mice exhibit sexually-dimorphic DNA methylation patterns across multiple tissues. BMC Genomics. 2017;18(1):966. doi: 10.1186/s12864-017-4350-x.
- Merchant-Larios H, Moreno-Mendoza N, Buehr M. The role of the mesonephros in cell differentiation and morphogenesis of the mouse fetal testis. Int J Dev Biol. 1993;37(3):407-15. Epub 1993/09/01. PubMed PMID: 8292535.
- Mesnick S, Ralls K. Sexual Dimorphism. In: Würsig B, Thewissen JGM, Kovacs KM, editors. Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals (Third Edition): Academic Press; 2018. p. 848-53.
- Miranda TB, Jones PA. DNA methylation: the nuts and bolts of repression. J Cell Physiol. 2007;213(2):384-90. Epub 2007/08/22. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21224. PubMed PMID: 17708532.
- Mizukami H, Kim JD, Tabara S, Lu W, Kwon C, Nakashima M, et al. KDM5D-mediated H3K4 demethylation is required for sexually dimorphic gene expression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. J Biochem. 2019;165(4):335-42. Epub 2018/12/13. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvy106. PubMed PMID: 30541083.
- Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA Methylation and Its Basic Function. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2013;38(1):23-38. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.112.
- Morais P, Adachi H, Yu YT. Suppression of Nonsense Mutations by New Emerging Technologies. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(12). Epub 2020/06/25. doi: 10.3390/ijms21124394. PubMed PMID: 32575694; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7352488.

- Morgan AP, Pardo-Manuel de Villena F. Sequence and Structural Diversity of Mouse Y Chromosomes. Molecular Biology and Evolution. 2017;34(12):3186-204. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msx250.
- Mueller JL, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Zaghlul S, Rock S, Graves T, et al. Independent specialization of the human and mouse X chromosomes for the male germ line. Nat Genet. 2013;45(9):1083-7. Epub 2013/07/23. doi: 10.1038/ng.2705. PubMed PMID: 23872635; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3758364.
- Nagamine CM, Taketo T, Koo GC. Studies on the genetics of tda-1 XY sex reversal in the mouse. Differentiation. 1987;33(3):223-31. Epub 1987/01/01. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-0436.1987.tb01561.x. PubMed PMID: 3596084.
- Nagamine CM, Chan K, Hake LE, Lau YF. The two candidate testis-determining Y genes (Zfy-1 and Zfy-2) are differentially expressed in fetal and adult mouse tissues. Genes Dev. 1990;4(1):63-74. Epub 1990/01/01. doi: 10.1101/gad.4.1.63. PubMed PMID: 1968414.
- Newell-Price J, Clark AJ, King P. DNA methylation and silencing of gene expression. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2000;11(4):142-8. Epub 2001/02/07. doi: 10.1016/s1043-2760(00)00248-4. PubMed PMID: 10754536.
- Nishioka Y, Lamothe E. Isolation and characterization of a mouse Y chromosomal repetitive sequence. Genetics. 1986;113(2):417-32. Epub 1986/06/01. doi: 10.1093/genetics/113.2.417. PubMed PMID: 3721197; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1202847.

- Nishioka Y, Lamothe E. The Mus musculus musculus type Y chromosome predominates in Asian house mice. Genet Res. 1987;50(3):195-8. Epub 1987/12/01. doi: 10.1017/s0016672300023697. PubMed PMID: 3443290.
- Norman AW, Henry HL. Chapter 12 Androgens. In: Norman AW, Henry HL, editors. Hormones (Third Edition). San Diego: Academic Press; 2015. p. 255-73.
- Odorisio T, Mahadevaiah SK, McCarrey JR, Burgoyne PS. Transcriptional Analysis of the Candidate Spermatogenesis GeneUbe1yand of the Closely RelatedUbe1xShows That They Are Coexpressed in Spermatogonia and Spermatids but Are Repressed in Pachytene Spermatocytes. Developmental Biology. 1996;180(1):336-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1996.0305.

Ohno S. Sex chromosomes and sex-linked genes: Springer Science & Business Media. 1967

- Okamoto I, Arnaud D, Le Baccon P, Otte AP, Disteche CM, Avner P, et al. Evidence for de novo imprinted X-chromosome inactivation independent of meiotic inactivation in mice. Nature. 2005;438(7066):369-73. doi: 10.1038/nature04155.
- Okano M, Xie S, Li E. Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. Nature Genetics. 1998;19(3):219-20. doi: 10.1038/890.
- Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell. 1999;99(3):247-57. Epub 1999/11/11. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81656-6. PubMed PMID: 10555141.

- Park S, Zeidan K, Shin JS, Taketo T. SRY upregulation of SOX9 is inefficient and delayed, allowing ovarian differentiation, in the B6.YTIR gonad. Differentiation. 2011;82(1):18-27. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2011.04.007.
- Park SJ, Jeong SY, Kim HJ. Y chromosome loss and other genomic alterations in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines analyzed by CGH and CGH array. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;166(1):56-64. Epub 2006/04/18. doi: 10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2005.08.022. PubMed PMID: 16616112.
- Penny GD, Kay GF, Sheardown SA, Rastan S, Brockdorff N. Requirement for Xist in X chromosome inactivation. Nature. 1996;379(6561):131-7. doi: 10.1038/379131a0.
- Pillemer SR, Matteson EL, Jacobsson LT, Martens PB, Melton LJ, 3rd, O'Fallon WM, et al. Incidence of physician-diagnosed primary Sjögren syndrome in residents of Olmsted County, Minnesota. Mayo Clin Proc. 2001;76(6):593-9. Epub 2001/06/08. doi: 10.4065/76.6.593. PubMed PMID: 11393497.
- Platt RN, 2nd, Vandewege MW, Ray DA. Mammalian transposable elements and their impacts on genome evolution. Chromosome Res. 2018;26(1-2):25-43. Epub 2018/02/03. doi: 10.1007/s10577-017-9570-z. PubMed PMID: 29392473; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5857283.
- Podcasy JL, Epperson CN. Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias.
 Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2016;18(4):437-46. Epub 2017/02/10. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.4/cepperson. PubMed PMID: 28179815; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5286729.

- Posynick BJ, Brown CJ. Escape From X-Chromosome Inactivation: An Evolutionary Perspective.
 Frontiers in cell and developmental biology. 2019;7:241-. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00241.
 PubMed PMID: 31696116.
- Rancourt RC, Schellong K, Tzschentke B, Henrich W, Plagemann A. DNA methylation and expression of proopiomelanocortin (POMC) gene in the hypothalamus of three-week-old chickens show sex-specific differences. FEBS Open Bio. 2018;8(6):932-9. Epub 2018/06/22. doi: 10.1002/2211-5463.12427. PubMed PMID: 29928573; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5985994.
- Rasmussen KD, Helin K. Role of TET enzymes in DNA methylation, development, and cancer.
 Genes Dev. 2016;30(7):733-50. Epub 2016/04/03. doi: 10.1101/gad.276568.115. PubMed
 PMID: 27036965; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4826392.
- Raudsepp T, Chowdhary BP. The Eutherian Pseudoautosomal Region. Cytogenet Genome Res.
 2015;147(2-3):81-94. Epub 2016/01/06. doi: 10.1159/000443157. PubMed PMID: 26730606.
- Rawles ME. The heart-forming areas of the early chick blastoderm. Physiological Zoology. 1943;16(1):22-43.
- Reizel Y, Spiro A, Sabag O, Skversky Y, Hecht M, Keshet I, et al. Gender-specific postnatal demethylation and establishment of epigenetic memory. Genes Dev. 2015;29(9):923-33.
 Epub 2015/05/03. doi: 10.1101/gad.259309.115. PubMed PMID: 25934504; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4421981.

- Riggs AD. X inactivation, differentiation, and DNA methylation. Cytogenet Cell Genet. 1975;14(1):9-25. Epub 1975/01/01. doi: 10.1159/000130315. PubMed PMID: 1093816.
- Rohner N. Genome Evolution's Role in Developmental Evolution. In: Kliman RM, editor. Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Biology. Oxford: Academic Press; 2016. p. 155-60.
- Rose NR, Klose RJ. Understanding the relationship between DNA methylation and histone lysine methylation. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1839(12):1362-72. Epub 2014/02/25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.02.007. PubMed PMID: 24560929; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4316174.
- Rosenquist GC. The origin and movement of prelung cells in the chick embryo as determined by radioautographic mapping. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1970;24(3):497-509. Epub 1970/11/01. PubMed PMID: 5493273.
- Rosenquist GC. The location of the pregut endoderm in the chick embryo at the primitive streak stage as determined by radioautographic mapping. Dev Biol. 1971;26(2):323-35. Epub 1971/10/01. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(71)90131-x. PubMed PMID: 5168311.
- Roy A, Lavrovsky Y, Song C, Chen S, Jung M, Velu N, et al. Regulation of androgen action. Vitamins & Hormones. 1998;55:309-52.
- Sauna ZE, Kimchi-Sarfaty C. Understanding the contribution of synonymous mutations to human disease. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2011;12(10):683-91. doi: 10.1038/nrg3051.
- Schulz Edda G, Meisig J, Nakamura T, Okamoto I, Sieber A, Picard C, et al. The Two Active X Chromosomes in Female ESCs Block Exit from the Pluripotent State by Modulating the

ESC Signaling Network. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(2):203-16. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.022.

- Seisenberger S, Peat JR, Hore TA, Santos F, Dean W, Reik W. Reprogramming DNA methylation in the mammalian life cycle: building and breaking epigenetic barriers. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2013;368(1609):20110330. Epub 2012/11/21. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0330. PubMed PMID: 23166394; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3539359.
- Sekido R, Bar I, Narváez V, Penny G, Lovell-Badge R. SOX9 is up-regulated by the transient expression of SRY specifically in Sertoli cell precursors. Developmental Biology. 2004;274(2):271-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.07.011.
- Sekido R, Lovell-Badge R. Sex determination involves synergistic action of SRY and SF1 on a specific Sox9 enhancer. Nature. 2008;453(7197):930-4. doi: 10.1038/nature06944.
- Sharif J, Muto M, Takebayashi S-i, Suetake I, Iwamatsu A, Endo TA, et al. The SRA protein Np95 mediates epigenetic inheritance by recruiting Dnmt1 to methylated DNA. Nature. 2007;450(7171):908-12. doi: 10.1038/nature06397.
- Shpargel KB, Sengoku T, Yokoyama S, Magnuson T. UTX and UTY demonstrate histone demethylase-independent function in mouse embryonic development. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(9):e1002964. Epub 2012/10/03. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002964. PubMed PMID: 23028370; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3459986.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(1):5-29. Epub 2015/01/07. doi: 10.3322/caac.21254. PubMed PMID: 25559415.

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2022. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2022;72(1):7-33. doi: https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21708.
- Sinclair AH, Berta P, Palmer MS, Hawkins JR, Griffiths BL, Smith MJ, et al. A gene from the human sex-determining region encodes a protein with homology to a conserved DNA-binding motif. Nature. 1990;346(6281):240-4. doi: 10.1038/346240a0.
- Singmann P, Shem-Tov D, Wahl S, Grallert H, Fiorito G, Shin S-Y, et al. Characterization of whole-genome autosomal differences of DNA methylation between men and women. Epigenetics & Chromatin. 2015;8(1):43. doi: 10.1186/s13072-015-0035-3.
- Skaletsky H, Kuroda-Kawaguchi T, Minx PJ, Cordum HS, Hillier L, Brown LG, et al. The malespecific region of the human Y chromosome is a mosaic of discrete sequence classes. Nature. 2003;423(6942):825-37. doi: 10.1038/nature01722.
- Smith ZD, Meissner A. DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2013;14(3):204-20. doi: 10.1038/nrg3354.
- Soh YQ, Alföldi J, Pyntikova T, Brown LG, Graves T, Minx PJ, et al. Sequencing the mouse Y chromosome reveals convergent gene acquisition and amplification on both sex chromosomes. Cell. 2014;159(4):800-13. Epub 2014/11/25. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.052. PubMed PMID: 25417157; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4260969.
- Spencer DH, Zhang B, Pfeifer J. Chapter 8 Single Nucleotide Variant Detection Using Next Generation Sequencing. In: Kulkarni S, Pfeifer J, editors. Clinical Genomics. Boston: Academic Press; 2015. p. 109-27.

94

- Steen VD, Oddis CV, Conte CG, Janoski J, Casterline GZ, Medsger Jr. TA. Incidence OF systemic sclerosis in allegheny county, Pennsylvania. A twenty-year study of hospital-diagnosed cases, 1963–1982. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 1997;40(3):441-5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780400309.
- Suetake I, Shinozaki F, Miyagawa J, Takeshima H, Tajima S. DNMT3L stimulates the DNA methylation activity of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b through a direct interaction. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(26):27816-23. Epub 2004/04/24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M400181200. PubMed PMID: 15105426.
- Suzuki MM, Bird A. DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2008;9(6):465-76. doi: 10.1038/nrg2341.
- Swain A, Lovell-Badge R. Mammalian sex determination: a molecular drama. Genes Dev. 1999;13(7):755-67. Epub 1999/04/10. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.7.755. PubMed PMID: 10197976.
- Taketo-Hosotani T, Nishioka Y, Nagamine CM, Villalpando I, Merchant-Larios H. Development and fertility of ovaries in the B6.YDOM sex-reversed female mouse. Development. 1989;107(1):95-105. Epub 1989/09/01. PubMed PMID: 2534072.
- Taylor-Harris P, Swift S, Ashworth A. Zfy1 encodes a nuclear sequence-specific DNA binding protein. FEBS Letters. 1995;360(3):315-9. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(95)00141-U.
- Thiel GA. The development of the mammalian spleen, with special reference to its hematopoietic activity. 1921.

- Tsunoda Y, Tokunaga T, Sugie T. Altered sex ratio of live young after transfer of fast- and slowdeveloping mouse embryos. Gamete Research. 1985;12(3):301-4. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.1120120308.
- Tyagi V, Scordo M, Yoon RS, Liporace FA, Greene LW. Revisiting the role of testosterone: Are we missing something? Rev Urol. 2017;19(1):16-24. Epub 2017/05/20. doi: 10.3909/riu0716. PubMed PMID: 28522926; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5434832.
- Ueda Y, Okano M, Williams C, Chen T, Georgopoulos K, Li E. Roles for Dnmt3b in mammalian development: a mouse model for the ICF syndrome. Development. 2006;133(6):1183-92.
 Epub 2006/02/28. doi: 10.1242/dev.02293. PubMed PMID: 16501171.
- Viña J, Lloret A. Why women have more Alzheimer's disease than men: gender and mitochondrial toxicity of amyloid-beta peptide. J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;20 Suppl 2:S527-33. Epub 2010/05/06. doi: 10.3233/jad-2010-100501. PubMed PMID: 20442496.
- Viré E, Brenner C, Deplus R, Blanchon L, Fraga M, Didelot C, et al. The Polycomb group protein
 EZH2 directly controls DNA methylation. Nature. 2006;439(7078):871-4. doi: 10.1038/nature04431.
- Waddington CH, Gray J. III. Experiments on the development of chick and duck embryos, cultivated *in vitro*. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character. 1932;221(474-482):179-230. doi: doi:10.1098/rstb.1932.0003.

- Wallach EE, Shoham Z, Schachter M. Estrogen biosynthesis—regulation, action, remote effects, and value of monitoring in ovarian stimulation cycles. Fertility and Sterility. 1996;65(4):687-701. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(16)58197-7.
- Walsh CP, Chaillet JR, Bestor TH. Transcription of IAP endogenous retroviruses is constrained by cytosine methylation. Nature Genetics. 1998;20(2):116-7. doi: 10.1038/2413.
- Warr N, Greenfield A. The molecular and cellular basis of gonadal sex reversal in mice and humans. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol. 2012;1(4):559-77. Epub 2012/02/28. doi: 10.1002/wdev.42. PubMed PMID: 23801533.
- Waterland RA. Epigenetic mechanisms and gastrointestinal development. J Pediatr. 2006;149(5 Suppl):S137-42. Epub 2007/01/11. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.06.064. PubMed PMID: 17212956.
- Weinhold B. Epigenetics: the science of change. Environ Health Perspect. 2006;114(3):A160-7.
 Epub 2006/03/02. doi: 10.1289/ehp.114-a160. PubMed PMID: 16507447; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1392256.
- Welshons WJ, Russell LB. THE Y-CHROMOSOME AS THE BEARER OF MALE DETERMINING FACTORS IN THE MOUSE. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1959;45(4):560-6. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.45.4.560.
- Werner RJ, Schultz BM, Huhn JM, Jelinek J, Madzo J, Engel N. Sex chromosomes drive gene expression and regulatory dimorphisms in mouse embryonic stem cells. Biol Sex Differ. 2017;8(1):28-. doi: 10.1186/s13293-017-0150-x. PubMed PMID: 28818098.

- Wijchers PJ, Yandim C, Panousopoulou E, Ahmad M, Harker N, Saveliev A, et al. Sexual dimorphism in mammalian autosomal gene regulation is determined not only by Sry but by sex chromosome complement as well. Dev Cell. 2010;19(3):477-84. Epub 2010/09/14. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2010.08.005. PubMed PMID: 20833369.
- Wu SC, Zhang Y. Active DNA demethylation: many roads lead to Rome. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2010;11(9):607-20. doi: 10.1038/nrm2950.
- Wu X, Zhang Y. TET-mediated active DNA demethylation: mechanism, function and beyond. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2017;18(9):517-34. doi: 10.1038/nrg.2017.33.
- Xia Y, Liu C, Chen C, Wang K, Dai R, Jiao C, et al. Sexually Dimorphic Dna Methylation in Human Brain and Relevance to Psychiatric Disorders. European Neuropsychopharmacology. 2017;27:S506-S7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.09.613.
- Yang X, Schadt EE, Wang S, Wang H, Arnold AP, Ingram-Drake L, et al. Tissue-specific expression and regulation of sexually dimorphic genes in mice. Genome Res. 2006;16(8):995-1004. Epub 2006/07/06. doi: 10.1101/gr.5217506. PubMed PMID: 16825664.
- Yoder JA, Walsh CP, Bestor TH. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites.
 Trends Genet. 1997;13(8):335-40. Epub 1997/08/01. doi: 10.1016/s0168-9525(97)011815. PubMed PMID: 9260521.
- Zamudio N, Bourc'his D. Transposable elements in the mammalian germline: a comfortable niche or a deadly trap? Heredity. 2010;105(1):92-104. doi: 10.1038/hdy.2010.53.

- Zeng Y, Chen T. DNA Methylation Reprogramming during Mammalian Development. Genes. 2019;10(4):257. PubMed PMID: doi:10.3390/genes10040257.
- Zhang Y, Klein K, Sugathan A, Nassery N, Dombkowski A, Zanger UM, et al. Transcriptional profiling of human liver identifies sex-biased genes associated with polygenic dyslipidemia and coronary artery disease. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e23506. Epub 2011/08/23. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023506. PubMed PMID: 21858147; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3155567.
- Zheng S, Kim H, Verhaak RGW. Silent mutations make some noise. Cell. 2014;156(6):1129-31. Epub 2014/03/19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.037. PubMed PMID: 24630716.
- Zheng W, Xu H, Lam SH, Luo H, Karuturi RK, Gong Z. Transcriptomic analyses of sexual dimorphism of the zebrafish liver and the effect of sex hormones. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53562. Epub 2013/01/26. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053562. PubMed PMID: 23349717; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3547925 member.
- Zhou W, Liang G, Molloy PL, Jones PA. DNA methylation enables transposable element-driven genome expansion. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020;117(32):19359-66. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.1921719117.
- Zhuang QK, Galvez JH, Xiao Q, AlOgayil N, Hyacinthe J, Taketo T, et al. Sex Chromosomes and Sex Phenotype Contribute to Biased DNA Methylation in Mouse Liver. Cells. 2020;9(6).
 Epub 2020/06/13. doi: 10.3390/cells9061436. PubMed PMID: 32527045; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7349295.

Appendix: Supplementary materials

Chr	Start	End	Hyper- and hypo- methylation in XY mice	Repeat	yDMR (with complete data)	Assays
1	60424501	60424800	Hyper	LTR	Yes	
2	103766401	103766700	Нуро	no repeat	Yes	Assayed/validated (<i>Caprin1</i>) – a
2	155020006	155020415	Hyper	LTR	Yes	Assayed/validated (Gm14226) – c
2	155022601	155022900	Hyper	LTR	Yes	
2	155022901	155023200	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
2	155023201	155023500	Нуро	LTR	Yes	Assayed/validated (Gm14226) – d
2	155024101	155024400	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
2	155024401	155024700	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
2	155024701	155025000	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
3	129668867	129669272	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
3	129672722	129673189	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
5	9293101	9293400	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
6	13714801	13715100	Нуро	no repeat	Yes	Assayed/validated (Ch6qA) – b
8	89372101	89372400	Hyper	no repeat	Yes	
9	42505412	42505584	Hyper	no repeat	Yes	Assayed/not validated (showed no difference)
12	81394600	81394904	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
15	84,155,825-	84,156,079	Hyper	no repeat	Yes	Assayed/ not validated (showed no difference)
16	21107101	21107400	Нуро	LTR	Yes	Assayed/ not validated (showed no difference)
17	14014445	14014733	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
17	58762146	58762377	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
17	72438073	72438162	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
18	8141701	8142000	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
19	13140001	13140300	Нуро	LTR	Yes	

Table S1. Genomic locations of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in liver

The gene name where the target yDMRs are present is written in parentheses.

Chr	Start	End	Hyper- and hypo- methylation in XY mice	Repeat	yDMR (with complete data)	Assay progress
2	155020006	155020704	Hyper	LTR	Yes	Assayed/validated (<i>Gm14226</i>) – c
2	155024401	155024700	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
3	129668867	129669272	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
3	129672957	129673189	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
4	82014619	82014755	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
5	7429801	7430100	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
6	19585201	19585500	Нуро	no repeat	Yes	
10	24331208	24331405	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
12	81394600	81394904	Нуро	LINE	Yes	
13	100593828	100594433	Hyper	LTR	Yes	
14	52862581	52862746	Hyper	no repeat	Yes	
15	97458248	97459326	Hyper	LINE	Yes	
16	21107226	21107602	Нуро	LTR	Yes	
17	14014445	14014733	Нуро	LINE	Yes	

Table S2. Genomic locations of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in brain

The gene name where the target yDMRs are present is written in parentheses.





Fig S1. Selected "reporter" Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs and their location in the genome. (a) The yDMR resides in exon 9 of *Caprin1* on chromosome 2. (b-c) The yDMRs reside on repeat element (LTR) and in an intronic region of the agouti gene and on chromosome 2. (d) The yDMR resides in an intergenic region on chromosome 6. (e-g) The sDMRs were assayed but showed not significant methylation difference between XX and XY mice and were not analyzed in further studies. Blue rectangles indicate the selected "reporter" yDMRs.



Fig S2. yDMRs are present in only B6.Y^{TIR} mice.

(**a-b**). Methylation levels in mice carrying the Y chromosome. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis represents different sex/genotype groups. Each point represents one DNA sample. Error bars represent standard deviation and asterisks represent statistically significant DNA methylation differences. (****) indicates p < 0.0001. ns – not significant. Significance was tested using ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.



Fig S3. Origin of the Y chromosome influences methylation of autosomal yDMRs.

(**a-d**). Methylation levels in livers of mice from different laboratory strains. The Y-axis represents DNA methylation levels (in percentages) and the X-axis shows the strains or crosses. Each point represents one DNA sample. Error bars show standard deviation. Blue rectangles represent XY male mice and empty orange triangles represent sex-reversed XY female mice.